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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
Statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least seven days
from the date of its publication and on the website of the Company at
http.//www.grandtg.com/.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text in
case of inconsistencies.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, together with
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), hereby presents the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 March, 2021 (the “Year”).

The Year was proven to be an exceptional challenge to the Group.
The sudden outbreak of the coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic earlier
in the Year had its impacts not only lasting longer than expected but
also profoundly affecting our business operations as well as affecting
our customers, shareholders, potential investors and other
stakeholders. The production had been halted for a prolonged period
of time, discussion on potential investments had been suspended
and most of the face-to-face meetings had been cancelled. The
regulatory environmental protection measures at the Group’s mine
sites were enhanced, and we had been requested to relocate most of
site workers’ facilities from the mine sites to a nearby village, about 5
km away and our workers now have to report duty through shutter
bus. While we wholeheartedly support the environmental protection
measures and the national strategy of sustainable development, such
measures has increased our operating pressure and production
costs. And the trade war between China and the US had been
escalating through the Year and creating a high level of uncertainty to

business operations in general.

Notwithstanding those challenges, the Group have made substantial
efforts to maintain mine production activities to the extent possible.
The Group had in fact managed to increase the revenue and gross
profit and to narrow the consolidated loss of the Group as compared
to the previous year. The Company has also resolved some long
lasting debt disputes, which is a breakthrough for the Company
towards its plan to gradually resolve all disputes and litigations
inherited long before the trading resumption and to improve the
business environment in which the Company operates. During the
Year, our operating subsidiary had also made smooth relocation of
the mining workers at our mine sites, and reclaimed the land
previously occupied by site facilities through plantation, ensured full
compliance of the latest regulatory requirements for environmental

protection.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

The Company expects the challenges would remain in the fiscal year
of 2021, and is prepared to face them prudently and diligently to best
protect the Company’s operations and business. Further, the
Company continues to stay with its commitment to the corporate
strategic goal of building a high quality and high efficiency mining
company, through improving and expanding the Company’s asset
scale, asset quality and financial performance, with an ultimate
objective to generate better returns to all shareholders of the

Company.
On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and

mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$99.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately 43.3% from approximately HK$69.6 million as

compared with that of the last year.

The increase in revenue was due to conscientious efforts by the
Group in offsetting impact of COVID-19 earlier in the Year and the
substantial increase in gold price which reached a historical high
during the Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, the Group’s gross profit was approximately HK$24.8
million, representing an increase of approximately 38.7% from
approximately HK$17.9 million as compared with that of the last year.
During the Year, the Group’s overall gross profit margin was
approximately 24.8% (year ended 31 March 2020: 25.7%).

Selling and distribution expenses
During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses were
approximately HK$4.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 33.9% from approximately HK$3.4 million as
compared with that of the last year.

Administrative expenses
During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
approximately HK$25.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 32.3% from approximately HK$37.0 million as
compared to the last year.

The decrease in administrative expenses was due to the tightened

control of administrative expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Loss for the year

Consolidated loss of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$16.6 million for the Year (2020: approximately HK$38.8 million).

For the Year, the Group recorded a net loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$18.0 million, as
compared to loss of approximately HK$35.2 million recorded last
year. The net loss had been narrowed for the Year as compared to
the previous year mainly due to an increase in revenue and the

tightened control of the operation expenses.

Loss per share
Loss per share was approximately HK cents 1.2 for the Year (2020:

approximately HK cents 2.35).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2020: nil).

Liquidity, financial resources and funding

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$5.9 million (2020: approximately
HK$2.1 million) and net current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$169.1 million (2020: approximately HK$148.9 million) whereas
inventories of the Group amounted to approximately HK$7.0 million
(2020: approximately HK$8.2 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the current ratio is approximately 0.19 (2020:
approximately 0.17).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
0.52 (2020: approximately 0.52),

borrowings over total assets.

calculated based on total

Borrowings
Borrowings information of the Group is set out in note 25 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Promissory Note

On 29 September 2018, the Group had subscribed HK$
denominated promissory notes with principal value of HK$4,000,000
(the “Subscription”) issued by an independent third party (the
“Issuer”). The promissory notes are secured by shares of the Issuer
(the “Collateral”), bearing a fixed interest at the rate of 4% per annum
and was due on 31 March 2019 initially. The promissory notes are
measured at amortised cost. No conversion right is attached to the

promissory notes to be exercised by the Company.

The entering into the Subscription backed by the Collateral is in fact a
security to secure the return of the pre-payment in the sum of HK$4
million under a consultancy agreement (the “Consultancy Agreement”)
entered into between the Company and a consultancy company (the
“Consultant”) which is a fellow subsidiary of the Issuer in connection
with a fund raising exercise of a target of HK$200 million by preparing

a strategic business plan and roadshows.

The Consultant was familiar with the Company operation, as well as
had extensive experience in the mining business and wide network of
investors active in the sector. The compensation under the
Consultancy Agreement has been agreed to be made on a successful
basis. The Company was required to make a pre-payment of HK$4
million upon engaging the Consultant. The pre-payment has been
treated as an account receivable of the Company until the success of

the fund raising exercise.

The Company had received representations from the Consultant that
potential funding parties including but not to limited to banking and
financing contact points with specific funding plans and expression of
interest to finance the Group from HK$30 million to HK$100 million.
Roadshows and meetings had been arranged to meet those investors
and a strategic development plan had been prepared for the
roadshows. The Company had not paid any fee for the substantial

work to the Consultant since the engagement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

There was one investment plan discussion with a PRC based
strategic investor arranged by the Consultant in early 2020 when a
detailed investment proposal was presented to the Company.
However, the outbreak of the COVID-19 then occurred, resulting in (i)
the sudden halt of all business activities in the PRC and in Hong Kong
office, (ii) the complete halt of production of the Group’s mines in the
PRGC; (iii) the imposed travel restrictions which had prevented the
investor from visiting Hong Kong; (iv) the adverse effect of COVID-19
in the investor’s business operations and financial conditions; and (v)
the uncertainty of the recovery of business activities due to COVID-19,
as such, the investment plan had yet to be materialised. Further,
since the Company had been continuously facing a number of
litigations, which had seriously affected the Company’s ability in its

fund raising exercise.

The Consultant claimed that extensive work had been performed
under the Consultancy Agreement since 2017 and asked for payment
or partial writing off of the HK$4 million pre-payment. Though the
Company has not agreed of such requests, the Company considered

recoverability may be discounted.

Given the Company’s needs for financing, the concerns in engaging
alternative service provides for the same work, and on-going
opportunities under the Consultancy Agreement, at the request of the
Issuer, the Board had decided to extend the due date of the said

promissory notes to 1 April 2022.

Capital structure

On 17 July 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$30,095,357 to J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited (the “Subscriber”) under the convertible bonds
subscription agreement dated 10 April 2017. The subscription monies
payable by the Subscriber for the convertible bonds was settled by
way of set off against the debt due by the Company to the

Subscriber.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$89,807,000 which were divided into 1,496,782,160 Shares of
HK$0.06 each.

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments (2020: nil).

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2020, security over inventory as collateral for the
Group’s long term loans was released and that the financier received
the Group’s rights of payments from its customers as collateral of the
Group’s operating subsidiary, ‘ZE B % AMBEEB R E T 2 7
Tongguan Taizhou Mining Company Limited* (“Taizhou Mining”).

Treasury policies

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in HK$ or Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets

and liabilities.

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most of the
bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in the local currencies of
the operating subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange
risk. The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and
cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management reviews and

monitors the Group’s working capital requirements regularly.

Segment information
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Exposure to exchange risks

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are primarily
denominated in the respective group companies functional currency
which are mainly in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the exposure to

foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Significant investment, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and future plans for
material investments or capital assets

The Group did not have any significant investment, material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

throughout the Year.

In addition, the Company is now focusing on developing and
strengthening its existing business and is exploring investment
opportunities in order to broaden the income stream of the Group,
enrich its reserves and resources, enhance the profitability of the
Group and eventually bring a fruitful return to the shareholders of the

Group.

Contingent liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 61 employees (2020: 65)
situated mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Hong Kong. The Group’s emoluments policies are formulated based
on industry practices and performance of individual employees. For
the Year, the total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$7.8 million (2020: approximately
HK$20.6 million). In view of the impacts of COVID-19 on the Group’s
operations and financial situation, the Directors had agreed to cut
their director’s fees. Details of employees’ remuneration are set out in

note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
Employees

The Directors are of the view that its employees are the keys to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Directors believe that the
Group maintains good working relations with its employees and

endeavors to maintain and improve the quality of its products.
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EEENWR DN

Customers and Suppliers

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that meet
customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive vertical supply
chain management system through resource integration and supplier

screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with the strategic suppliers and to create competitive
advantages in the value chain, thereby aiming to enhance the impact
on the society and environment and to ensure that their suppliers
uphold similar stance in sustainability. The Group maintains long-term

relationship with its suppliers for ensuring stable supply.

PROSPECT

Looking forward to 2021, in the backdrop of the economy
uncertainties by the China-US trade dispute, the continual effect of
COVID-19 epidemic, ever tightening regulatory environmental
protection requirements in the PRC and other macroeconomic and
policy factors, the Group is expected to face a number of challenges
ahead in the forthcoming year. The Group will continue with utmost
effort to control and minimise unfavourable factors to its operations,
and be prepared for execution of the business development plan and
growth of business. The Company will strive to improve the
Company’s asset scale and quality as well as financial performance
over time. In addition to organic growth from the company existing
business, the Group will look for new potential growth opportunities in
a very diligent manner through merger and acquisition, business
integration and expansion in order to improve the profitability of the

Group and the returns to the shareholders.

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE DEVELOPMENT
AND ORE MINING ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the Year, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
5,652 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 452
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 678 meters
of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 1,695 meters for

track laying and ditches.
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During the Year, the Group’s total expenditure for the mine
development and mineral exploration amounted to approximately

HK$40.7 million and approximately HK$O respectively.

Ore Mining
During the Year, the aggregate expenditure on the ore mining

operation of the Group was approximately HK$27.1 million.

RESOURCES AND RESERVES
Based on the findings pursuant to JORC CODE 2012:

1. As of 31 March 2021, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.0 gram per

tonne, the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group

RAEE  AEEIREERE MREDRNAR X
2 Bl 747 40,700,000 4 7T R £ 0 TT ©

RARK
RAFE  ARBROAREBOEFAIOR
27,100,000 7T °

ERREHE
ZJORCER (ZB—ZF /) ERZ LM :

1. #Z2-_Z-—F=—A=+—8 #HB10%n
5¢  MERRPME  NEBNITHE

were: REREGERER :
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
rE m A easB
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(Fmg) (Z&wi &%) (Fz #F)
Indicated resource THIERE 1,740 7.88 13,711
Inferred resource HEEIRE 1,555 6.60 10,260

2. As at 31 March 2021, under a cut-off grade of 1.9 gram per

tonne, the estimated probable reserves of the Group were:

2. HE-_Z-—F=ZA=+—H BE19%
=5e / MERRBAFE  ANEBGFTER
RE25

Contained

Inventory Grade metal

7E m A Fat’

(gram per (kilogram,

(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)

(FHE) (fWi m=x) (7 Bx)

Probable reserves inventory FEARFEERE 1,494 5.83 8,709
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong (“Dr. Li”)

Dr. Li, aged 63, joined the Company as an executive Director on 24
February 2016 and is also the chairman and the authorized
representative of the Company. Dr. Li also serves as a director of
SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia
Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 20 years
of experience in investment banking, mergers and acquisitions and
other financial activities. Dr. Li was graduated from Tsinghua
University in civil and environmental engineering and received a
degree in Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the University

of Toronto, Canada.

Ms. Ma Xiaona (“Ms. Ma”)

Ms. Ma, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 24 March 2016 and is a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Ma was
re-designated as an executive Director and the compliance officer of
the Company on 13 September 2017, and was also appointed as a
director of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining
Asia Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ma
graduated from East China University of Science and Technology in
Shanghai with a Bachelor’s degree in International Trade. She has
more than 20 years of experience in project financing, joint ventures
and mergers and acquisitions in China and Hong Kong, involving in
industries such as gold mining, other resources mining, traditional

manufacturing, and high-tech industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Guo Wei (“Mr. Guo”)

Mr. Guo, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 April 2016. He is also the chairman of
the nomination committee and remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Guo graduated
from Beijing Institute of Economic Research, majoring in Chinese
Language and Literature (undergraduate) in 1999. Since 2004, he has
been served as the chairman of the board of ;T i 2% & AR A &
(Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). He worked in the
T & B E B 52 5% 51 B (Survey and Design Institute of Post and
Telecommunications in Zhejiang Province*) from 1977 to 1987. He
worked in the Zhejiang Provincial Government Office in Guangzhou
and A IR g &% B 2 7] (Grand Southeast Group Corporation®) from
1988 to 1994. He worked as the general manager of 171/ & T B
ABJE (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel*) and the chairman of
the board of #1 Il 7 & #& & A 7] (Hangzhou Wuyun Investment
Company*) from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Guo has been engaged in
management for more than 30 years, including 20 years as the head
of enterprises, during which he gains extensive management

experience and strong coordination ability.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (“Mr. Lam”)

Mr. Lam, aged 65, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 December 2017. He is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company, a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, Australia ¢ New
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in
Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the United
Kingdom. Mr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director
of Macrolink Capital Holdings Limited (formerly known as Junefield
Department Store Group Limited) (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
758).
International Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 329)
from 28 April 2010 to 7 May 2018. Mr. Lam currently is a partner of
Grand Thornton Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lam had been head of

He was an independent non-executive director of OCI

department in Southwest Securities International Securities Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 812). He was the former director and
Chief Executive Officer and is the shareholder of Jonten Hopkins CPA
Limited (the merger of former Aoba CPA Limited* (5 Z & &+EI S 757
and Albert Lam & Co. CPA). Mr. Lam was also the Managing Partner
and Founder of Albert Lam & Co. CPA.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (“Mr. Cheung”)

Mr. Cheung, aged 40, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 27 August 2018. He is also a member of the
audit committee of the Company. He is a certified tax adviser of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Cheung
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an
honours degree in bachelor of arts in accountancy. He worked in
Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July 2004 to March 2014 and his
last position was audit manager. He is currently appointed as the
chief financial officer of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited (Stock
Exchange Stock Code: 1305). Mr. Cheng was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Ye Xing Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Exchange Stock code: 1941) on 17 February 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 63, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining and
merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China. Mr. Ma is
currently a member of People’s Congress of Tongguan County,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the general manager and
director of Taizhou Mining. He had served as director of China Gold
Association and executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi
Province. He had held senior management positions as the director
of the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi
Province, PRC, and the President of the Small and Medium
Entrepreneurs Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC.

Ms. Eva Lee (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) on 20 February 2020. She is admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong and focusing on capital markets and
corporate finance work. Ms. Lee graduated from the London School

of Economic and Political Science with Masters of Laws (Distinction).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set

out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 5 to 14 of this report. Possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the Report
of the Directors on page 19 of this report and the Corporate

Governance Report on page 36 of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Fluctuation in the price of gold

The Directors consider that the price of gold in the PRC is highly
influenced by the price of gold in the international market (which is
denominated in the USD) and the exchange rate of the USD to RMB.
The Directors consider that there are many factors influencing the
price of gold in the international market, including global economic
situation, fiscal, monetary and trade policies of world major
economies which would eventually influence the exchange rates of
the USD, fluctuation in major stock markets, geo-political instability in
the international arena, all of which are beyond the control of the
Group. The fluctuation in gold price would affect significantly revenue
levels, cash flow and profitability of the Group. To mitigate and control
the risk, the Group would continue to make its constant effort in
controlling cash cost for production and overall cost for the Group
operation, monitoring closely the commaodity market and aligning its
production planning, growth strategy and capital expenditure with

projected market development to the extent possible.
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Investment risks

Investments in mineral exploration and mining have its inherent risks.
Significant capital expenditures are usually required for business and
regulatory reasons in new exploration and sustained mine
development while the results particularly those for exploration may
not always be as expected or achieve the desired levels of reliability
for newly found mineral reserves and resources in the timely fashion.
The Group would mitigate and control such risks by conducting
proper risk assessment, using third party professionals and experts
and adopting the best practices in the industry, in investment
evaluation and decision-making process, including carefully planned
drilling and other exploration activities, mine development and

acquisition of quality mining assets.

Government regulations

The mining activities of the Group are subject to various government
policies, standards, permitting and regulations, all of which could
affect the Group’s operation. From time to time, there are government
initiatives for the mining industry such as mining right consolidation
which aims at creating larger mining areas from fragmented ones.
Furthermore, the process for review and extension of the existing
mining and exploration right permits, and review and approval of any
new mining and production facilities have become lengthy and costly
and with uncertainty. Even projects approved years ago and are
already under construction can be subject to review and approval
under a new set regulations and standards. The Group would mitigate
and control the risks by working closely with the government agencies
to negotiate the best deals in the consolidation programme to protect
and maximize the Group’s interests. At the same time, the Group
monitors and follows the policy development closely and works on
the best effort basis ahead of the anticipated changes to be prepared

and to comply.
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Environmental Protection

The nationwide campaign for environmental protection has been
enhanced in the mining sector and promotion of green mines, under
the PRC national strategy for environmental protection. Virtually all
major mining regions in the country including the county where the
Group operates are part of this campaign. This involves permitting of
mining only at certain elevations, clear of any protective or natural
reserve areas and strict enforcement of pollution control standards,
minimizing adverse impacts of mining and processing activities to
their surrounding natural and social environments and to geology
stability, mitigating any adverse impacts form historical mining
activities and landscaping of the mine sites and surroundings in
particular, the Xiao Qinling mountains where the Company’s mine
operates, have received the attention for protection from the highest
level of the country leadership. Enforcement of environmental
protection has been beefed up in the PRC. A series of new provincial
and local notices, guidelines and other directors have been issued
over the reporting period, some of which targeted specifically to the
mining sector. There could be very specific requirements for example,
the imposed regulation by relocating accommodation of mining
workers away from mining sites. It is expected that the regulations will
be increasingly stringent. Furthermore, a dedicated environmental
inspection for mining was carried out by a group dispatched by the
Central Government to the area where Taizhou Mining operates.
During the inspection period, the mine production was shut down per
government request. A series of requirements for improvement in
environmental protection in the region as well as all the mines were
raised as a result of the inspection. Enforcement of these
environmental policies and standards may cause an increase in
operating costs and any violation could result in interruption of the
Group’s normal production activities. The Group has a policy to
protect the natural and social environments and to be in full
compliance with all applicable policies and standards. The Group has

and will continue to take pre-active measures to ensure compliance.
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Occurrence of COVID-19 Epidemic

The recent occurrence of COVID-19 epidemic which spread globally
since January 2020, has caused uncertainties to the economy in the
PRC in the coming year. The impact of the COVID-19 epidemic is
likely to last in near future especially with respect to travel restriction,

meeting limitation and possible occurrence of new waves.

In such event, health safety risks during the occurrence of the
COVID-19 epidemic may also lead to labour shortage, increase in
wages of the workers and/or closure or interruption of the Group’s
gold mines if new cases occur at the mines, which will delay the work
progress of the Group’s gold mining operation as a result. It has and
may continue to affect the operation of the Group’s customers and
potential investors which in turn would affect on the Group’s sales
and the Group’s fund raising plans. These adverse impacts, if
materialise and persist for a substantial period, may significantly and
adversely affect our business operation and financial performance.

Financial Risks

The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being, it is
in net current liabilities, although the Group has fulfilled all its financial
obligations in the past including settlements of disputes and other
financial obligations as and when needed. Failure to obtain additional
funding in a timely fashion however, may adversely affect the Group’s
operation and its development plan. The Group is constantly in active
fund raising, talking to several interested investors/financiers,
negotiating and comparing terms and conditions, and trying to close
fund raising whenever possible to significantly alleviate the current
liability risks. Furthermore, the Group was received a financial support
commitment from a major shareholder to cover the most needed
financial obligation. At the same time, the Group is updating its plan
aiming at boosting its mineral products throughput and thus revenue
and net profits by completing a new processing plant. The plan also
includes investment opportunities for acquisitions for quality mining
assets. The successful implementation of the plan would
fundamentally improve the Group’s financial position and address the

current liabilities concerns.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND

REGULATIONS
During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has

complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong in all

material respects for the business operations of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s environmental policies are to protect the natural and
social environment where the Group operates, to ensure full
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements and standards,
and to be sustainable in the Group’s operations. The Group strives to
minimize potential adverse environmental impacts from its mining, ore
processing, tailing disposal and other production and operation
activities. This objective for protecting the environment during the
Group’s operations will be achieved by adopting effective and
proactive, where appropriate, measures, including but not limited to,
upfront impact assessment for any and all new projects, careful
planning and execution of production activities with considerations for
environmental protection, collection and treatment of waste from all
streams and sources, recycling and reuse of treated waste where
possible, minimization of environmental discharge, rehabilitating areas
affected by the Group’s mining activities and endorsing community

participation and feedback, etc.

During the Year, the Group had not been the subject of any

environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or disciplinary actions.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company will
be announced on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the Company’s website within three months after the publication of

the annual report of the Company.

23

BT HEBEERIER
RAEEREZAREAY  AEEDHAEE
ZEBREEREEATEET RN EBENE
BRER -

REBRRKRR

REBHRBHRR RIRENEBZE A
AARMERE MREEETHEEREER

EREAREAGEEEEETERAFEER

EF&Z“‘%E@JE’J Z—EEE%%%% %Z‘E?ffﬁ 0
EASEZEBRREPREREN B EHEBRSR
BREYHEERERER  ZFHEEFEETR
R BEAREEMA B ETR AT ENE - &
ZERBARENHRE TEBRRBMBMITEER
B WEREIEFAARBREY - FAl e R
ERKBRIENEY ZERIARES &
REAEERREB T ENILR LR FHER2HE
MRESE -

E(‘\ZJSE'EJ_\_ ZKE@IE@EWTE{—_B&'{E%{E =iy
A BRI S o

ARARE 8 REARESHRAREFRT
BER=ZEANERBMERZAERATRAR



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020/2021

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEE®RS

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
63.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2020: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
172. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year

are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Convertible Bonds” of this report and note 28 and note 30(i)) to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement was

entered into by the Company during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2021 had been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) before they
were duly approved by the Board under the recommmendation of the

Audit Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes

or may compete with the business of the Group during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, there were no Company’s reserves available

for distribution to shareholders.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 100% of the total sales for the Year and
sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 100%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 100% of the total purchases for the Year and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
16.4%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong
Ms. Ma Xiaona

Ms. Wang Hongyin (resigned on 10 August 2020)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Each of Dr. Li Dahong and Mr. Guo Wei, has entered into a service

contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 19 September 2019.
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Each of Ms. Ma Xiaona and Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term commencing
from 28 September 2020.

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term commencing from 27 September 2018.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the articles of

association of the Company.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the annual
general meeting has an unexpired service agreement with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set

out on page 15.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company had been

entered into or existed during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company has in
force the permitted indemnity provisions which are provided for in the
articles of association of the Company and in the directors and
officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group

respectively.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2021, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and
short positions in Shares, underlying shares and debentures” above)
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

Number and class of securities

RAEXRRORABRG ZHR

EHEE REH Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HEBTRAZ
wEEB g4 g HEBAR 2 BHOBEDL
Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 200,730,224 - 13.41%
BN (HEED EREAA -
Interest of spouse 22,508,800 - 1.50%
[ 2 (Note 1)
(Btat1)
Zhao Yuebing Beneficial Owner 22,508,800 - 1.50%
4k EnEBA -
Interest of spouse 200,730,224 - 13.41%
[iRYER (Note 1)
(BHtat1)
Lee Shing Interest in a controlled 106,893,333 - 7.14%
corporation (Note 2)
£ RPEHIA R AR (Mtat2)
Yong Li Investments Limited Beneficial owner 106,893,333 - 7.14%

KFEEBRAT

i

EHmBEAA
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Number and class of securities

EHEE KER Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HERITROZ
wE BB 3% igv) HER D BOBEDL
Wang Dong Interest in a controlled 86,244,800 - 5.76%
corporation (Note 3)
ERR RPEGIA R s (H1iZ3)
Midway International Holdings Beneficial owner 86,244,800 - 5.76%
Limited
PREIFRE O BRAE EREBA
Zhou Yong Beneficial owner 116,666,666 - 7.79%
B EHEBA
Leung Heung Ying Interest in a controlled 13,333,333 - 0.89%
corporation (Note 4)
RER REEHAE 2 s (Htata)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 5)
(K1t 5)
J. Thomson Asset Beneficial owner 13,333,333 - 0.89%
Investment Limited (Note 4)
BEREAA (Hfiz4)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 5)
(K7t 5)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Ma is the spouse of Ms. Zhao Yuebing. Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao
Yuebing is accordingly deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other under the SFO.

2. These Shares were held by Yong Li Investments Limited, a company
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Shing.

3. These Shares were held by Midway International Holdings Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Wang Dong.

4. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the shares subscription agreement dated
8 June 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and the J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber.

5. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the convertible bonds agreement dated
10 April 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company had
not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying shares which were required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted
by the Company on 4 March 2009 and was lapsed on 19 November
2019. The Company shall review and renew the Share Option

Scheme in due course.

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in

note 30(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Loans from Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao Yuebing, directors of Taizhou
Mining and thus connected persons of the Group, to Taizhou Mining
and to the Company were fully exempt connected transactions
pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules as those were
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and were not

secured by the assets of the Group.

The Directors consider that those material related party transactions
disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements did not
fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed
that the Company has complied with the requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,

experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
included provident fund scheme, share option scheme as well as
discretionary bonuses. The determination of emoluments of the
directors of the Company had taken into consideration of their
respective experience, responsibilities in the Company and the

prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares was held by the public as at the date

of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring
disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 March 2021 end

up to the date of approval of this report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
McM (HK) CPA Limited.

McM (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as auditor to the Group on 3
April 2020 to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation of
Gl CPA Limited with effect from 2 April 2020. The reason for the
change of auditor was that GI CPA Limited no longer intended to
carry out accounting and audit services in Hong Kong and has
ceased to be a certified public accountant and Public Interest Entity

auditor with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
McM (HK) CPA Limited term of office as auditor of the Company will

expire at end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain the highest standard of
corporate governance as it believes that effective corporate
governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder

value and safeguarding shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control, and transparency

and accountability to all its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company had complied with all Code
Provisions as set out in the Code in the Year, except for the following

deviation:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman of the Company is performed by Dr. Li, while the office of
the chief executive is vacated following the retirement of Mr. Feng Jun
on 11 September 2017. The Board will keep reviewing the current
structure of the Board from time to time and should candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company
will make appointment to fill the post of the chief executive as

appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than
the Required Standard of Dealings. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during

the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Eva Lee, a practising solicitor in Hong Kong, was appointed as
the Company Secretary on 20 February 2020 and responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board
procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications

among Directors as well as with senior management.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken more than
15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 5.15
of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group,
overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance, evaluating the performance of the Group and
supervising the management. In addition, the Board reserves the
authority to make final decisions for all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring of budgets, dividend payout,
material transaction, preparation and release of financial information,
appointment of Directors. The Board is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the Code.

The Board had reviewed the compliance of Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report including the board diversity policy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems. In order to enhance efficiency, the Board
has delegated the day-to-day responsibilities and operations to the
executive Directors and senior management who perform their duties

under the leadership of the chairman of the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION EEgAK

The Board comprises five Directors, including two executive Directors EEeHALEEHENK  HAREMBRITEE
and three independent non-executive Directors. R=%BIIENITES -
Details of their composition by category are as follows: HABABIRAREI D 2 EWT -
Executive Directors HITES

Dr. Li Dahong (Chairman) FREEE(EE)

Ms. Ma Xiaona SR+

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Guo Wei iS5

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum MEDR T E

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RIEME A

Note: Ms. Wang Hongyin, a former executive Director resigned on 10 KtiE : AT ESIA St eERN—_E-_ZEFEN\A+
August 2020. HEHE -

With the various experience of the executive Directors and BENTESERBEVIFNTES ([ BILEHTE
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and having regard EHTELBRUANEZEED AREFERBNMED -
to the nature of the Group’s business, the Company recognises the RAREREEFEKENKERMNEFERTEY
benefits of having a Board with well-balanced experience and BHAEBARERRENBESENEZ - A
qualifications to maintain a sustainable business development of the B ARNABRTHENEEHENEST A
Group in the long run. In recognition of the Company’s commitment %o IREATECELDEAEEEARNTNANE
to a well-balanced Board, the nomination committee is entrusted to TRBER M AREERR s - IRBBBRITT 2B -
review the Company’s human resources policy and recruitment

process to ensure the effectiveness of such policy.
Details of Directors and relationship between the board members are BEENEEeKE ZENBRZFBEINARS

set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and F15E [EEkafEEERRE] —4& -

Senior Management” on page 15 of this report.

38



P EESE |

REESERERAF
T /B —FFR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity
policy. The Company believes that board diversity is a key element for
the Company to maintain sound corporate governance, realize
sustainable development and achieve strategic objectives. The
Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organizational changes. The Company considers that the concept of
diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such as
professional experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and
length of service. For the purpose of implementation of the board

diversity policy, the following objectives were adopted:

Independence: The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and independent non-executive Directors so that there is a
strong element of independence in the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their

views to carry weight.

Gender: The Company is committed to maintaining an environment of
respect for people regardless of their gender in all business dealings
and achieving a workplace environment free of harassment and
discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or mental state, race,
nationality, religion, age or family status. The same principle is applied

to the selection of potential candidates for appointment to the Board.

Nationality and ethnicity: To cope with the diversified portfolio of the
Company’s businesses, the Company aspires to having a board of
directors of different nationality or ethnic backgrounds who can
contribute their knowledge and understanding of the environment in

which the Company operates its business.
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Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with

considerable experience in a range of activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the board diversity policy has the
following measurable objectives to comply with the GEM Listing

Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be

independent non-executive Directors;

2. atleast three of the members of the Board shall be independent

non-executive Directors; and
3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives under board

diversity policy as at 31 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

During the Year, 10 Board meetings and one general meeting were

held. Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors at

the Company’s board meetings, board committee meetings and

general meetings held during the Year:

EELEER
AEEERTIORNE

S i
=

—RBEAE -
REENATERTZARAEE

St | X
El%\n?k

P

EF RIRA G 2 HF s yImT

HEE SR
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ERZEE®  FMERE  REZE9
Bzl Ef Ef 23 RRAE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HEEERY ARHFEERY

Executive Directors: HTES:

Dr. Li Dahong FAREL

Ms. Ma Xiaona SEfzt

Ms. Wang Hongyin 5£7‘*E‘1Zi
(resigned on 10 August 2020) (R=ZFE-_Z#/\A+H

FHE)

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES:
Directors:

Mr. Guo Wei FEEE

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum WERLE

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RIEHELAE

10/10
10/10

5/5

10/10
10/10
10/10

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION
According to Code Provision D.3 of the Code, the Board is

responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of the

Company. The Board has the following duties and responsibilities for

performing the corporate governance duties of the Company:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies

corporate governance;

and practices on

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management of the

Group;
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3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the

Directors; and

5. to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report and in annual report of the

Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 under Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules, all Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Each Director received induction on the first
occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that
he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory

requirements.

During the Year, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development regarding their duties and responsibilities under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement which included reading
materials in relation to legal or regulatory update and/or attending

training courses.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-

executive Directors to be independent.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or
proposal to be considered by the Board, such Director is required to
declare his interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is
considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no

material interest in the transaction.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, the Company had three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) to assist the Board in
discharging its duties and responsibilities. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are
able to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection
with their duties at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial
information of the Company, oversee the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors and
provide advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the Year and up
to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Five meetings had been held by the Audit Committee during the Year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management the audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for
the three months ended 30 June 2020, for the six months ended 30
September 2020 and for the nine months ended 31 December 2020,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
auditing, risk management and internal control systems and financial
reporting matters. The audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit

Committee.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying qualified individuals to become members of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members.
It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following policies for the nomination of

directors.

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall consider the potential contributions
that a candidate can bring to the Board and/or the Group. The
Nomination Committee would consider a candidate in terms of
quallifications, skills, experience, independence and other factors. The

following shows a non-exhaustive list of selection criteria:

° the candidate’s race, reputation, character and integrity;

° the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business
judgment and experience which are relevant to the operations

of the Group;

° the relevant factors set out in the Board Diversity Policy (as

amended from time to time);

Nomination Procedures

The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall be
assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and the

Board against the Selection Criteria and the Board Diversity Policy.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to the
Board:

° the Nomination Committee may take such measures that it
considers appropriate in connection with its identification and
evaluation of candidates, including referrals from the Directors,

shareholders, management, advisors of the Company;
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° the Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the
character, qualification, knowledge and experience of the
candidate and perform adequate due diligence in respect of

such candidate; and

° the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations by
submitting the candidate’s personal profile to the Board for its

consideration.

The Nomination Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the Year and up to the

date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

For the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meeting.

Summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the Year

was as follows:

— To review and monitor the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and make recommendations to the Board regarding any

proposed changes;

— To identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as
additional Directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they
arise. The criteria to be adopted by the Board in considering
each individual shall be their ability to contribute to the effective

carrying out by the Board of its responsibilities; and
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— To make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief

executive officer.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and
compensation packages for the Directors and senior management of
the Group. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year and up to

the date of this report is as follows:
Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Two meetings had been held by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year.

Senior management’s remuneration
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:

Number of individuals

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, the fees paid/payable to the auditor in respect of the

audit and non-audit services were as follows:

BB AT <&
RAFEER - B AR AR RIS
Rz BRMT -

Amount (HKS)
Types of services PR 75 28 Bl S£E (BT
Annual audit services FREEZRE 1,200,000
Non-audit services EEZRS -

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to its shareholder
the funds surplus to the operating needs, current and future business
development of the Group as determined by the Board. The
Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders subject

to the criteria as set out below.

In accordance with the article of association of the Company and
subject to the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company in
general meeting may from time to time declare dividends in any
currency to be paid to the Shareholders but no dividend shall be

declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the
Company, realized or unrealized, or from any reserve set aside from
profits which the Board determine is no longer needed. With the
sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared and
paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account
which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the

relevant laws under the Cayman Islands.
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Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rule, regulations and the
articles of association of the Company, in deciding whether to
propose an dividend payout, the Board will take into account, among
other things, the financial results, the earnings, losses and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements, the
debt ratio and possible effect on the credit lines, the capital
requirements, the current and future development plans of the
Company, the interests of the Shareholders, dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associate companies, and other

factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserve its sole and absolute right to update, amend, modify and/or
cancel the dividend policy. There can be no assurance that dividends

will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial statements
which give true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of
operations and cash flows of the Group in compliance with
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and statutory
requirements in relation to financial reporting. In preparation of the
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2020, for
the six months ended 30 September 2020, for the nine months
ended 31 December 2020 and for the Year, the Directors have
adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently.
The financial statements for the Year have been prepared on going
concern basis. The statement of auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in

the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being, it is
in net current liabilities, although there are no immediate concerns for
solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure to obtain
additional funding in a timely fashion however, may adversely affect
the Group’s operation and its development plan. The Group is now
actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several interested
investors/financiers, trying to raise fund raising to significantly alleviate
the current liability risks as well as improve its production performance
and profitability. Furthermore the Group is to continue exploring
investment opportunities for acquisitions for quality mining assets.
The successful implementation of these measures would
fundamentally improve the Group’s financial position and address the

current liabilities concerns.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group has
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement

or loss.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether an internal
audit department is required. Given the relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, the Group currently does not have an internal
audit function. Even though the Group does not maintain an internal
audit function, the Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.
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The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The
Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external advisor
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting

function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to

safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Board performs annual reviews on any significant change of the
business environment and establishes procedures to respond the
risks result from significant change of business environment. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to mitigate

the potential losses of the business.

The Group has engaged an independent professional party (the “IC
Expert”) to carry out internal audit functions by conducting an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems during the reporting period. The scope of review
included Corporate Governance, Financial Reporting, Sales and
receipt, Purchase and payment, Human resources management
cycle, Treasury management cycles and Information system. I1C
Expert has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Company. All recommendations from IC Expert have been adopted.
The Group is committed to implementing the suggested improvement
in the coming year and determined to establish and maintain

adequate risk management and internal control processes.
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The Board approved and adopted an inside information policy and
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The insider information policy provide the guidelines to the directors,
management and relevant staff (likely possessing the unpublished
inside information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
procedures include, among others, regularly remind the directors,
management and relevant staff about the compliance with the
securities dealing restrictions as set out in the rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the natification of the regular “Blackout

Period”.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company encourages two-way communications with its
shareholders. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in our quarterly, interim and annual reports to be sent to the
shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their
shareholdings or the business of the Company are welcomed and will
be dealt with in an informative and timely manner. In order to promote
effective communication, the Company maintains a website on which
financial and other information relating to the Group and its business

are disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk”
and “http.//www.grandtg.com”, respectively, after the relevant

shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/her contact
details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company by sending the same to the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact details and the
proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the general meeting
regarding any specified transaction/business and the supporting

documents.
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MCM

McM (HK) CPA Limited

To the shareholders of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand T G
Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 171,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
which reveals that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$16,567,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 and as at 31
March 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$169,120,000. In addition, the Group’s bonds and convertible
bonds of approximately HK$13,337,000 and HK$24,717,000
respectively could become repayable on demand subject to the court
ruling, as disclosed in notes 26 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively. Based on the current liquidity position of the
Group, the Group might have financial uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
Group will be able to successfully achieve the outcomes as set forth
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements to meet its overdue
financial obligations from time to time. Our opinion is not modified in

respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have
determined: (i) impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and construction in progress;
and (i) assessment on the impact of current litigation cases which the
Company or its subsidiary is being the defendant to be the key audit

matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HARELBE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and
construction in progress

ME - BERZE REEHBEERETEZIBRET
1

Refer to accounting policies in note 3(i), significant
accounting judgments and estimates in note 4 and
relevant disclosures made in notes 14 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SBIM SNV TR - M4 E R GFHHIET KR b5t
ARAR A SRR T 14 R 16EE 2 BREHE -

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and construction
in progress relating to the gold mining operation which
amounted to approximately HK$723,058,000,
HK$52,767,000 and HK$53,082,000 respectively, were
allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU”) of gold
mining operation. The impairment assessment of CGU of
gold mining operation is a key audit matter due to its
significance and judgement involved.
RZBEZ—F=A=+—H E£EEESHAEER
B E BELRE KEREEEERER
T2 9 5l /& #)728,058,000 7% JT * 52,767,000/ 7T &
53,082,00087C - OB EEEHREBRCELEN
(IBReEFEL] ARESEURSPRAE  His
THREBRCELEORENGRBBEEZEE -

HAREZREE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EE2ERNARERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment

included:

BEERREMGETZCERREFRE

56

Assessing management’s identification of CGU of gold
mining operation and impairment assessment policies
based on the Group’s accounting policies and
understanding of the Group’s business;

BiE ESEEZSEREE ESEEKZ T@EITE
ERBYHERREBRCES B2 BRI MR E
R

Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review the
appropriateness of the value-in-use calculation
methodology adopted by management, the accuracy of
the calculations and the market data used;
ZRELEEERGHESHRANEEEMRANZEREER
BEZEEMN  HERERZ TS8R 2 EEIE

Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions adopted by management in the preparation
of discounted cash flow underlying the value-in-use
calculation (including mining costs, gold prices and
discount rate) based on the business and industry; and
BEEBRITETGRERERENGRREAEETE
Mz ERRSRERMEAFEZRE (BREBERAAR
BEEBEITER) 2AEBNE &

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
EHEGAMBRRTAAERBEZEE L -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HEEREE

Assessment on the impact of current litigation cases
which the Company or its subsidiary is being the

defendant.
FfE EATREMBLARBEFRENEARARY

HEE -

Refer to significant accounting judgments and estimates
in note 4 and relevant disclosure in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2HFEE VBRI MT40ERG S HIE Kbt KM T
39 H)MEREHKREE -

The Group is involved in several litigation which the
Company or its subsidiary is being named as defendant.
The directors are of the opinion that a successful claim
made against the Group under these litigations is remote
under which the Group has merits in the defense against
these claims can concluded that no provision for these
litigation is necessary.

EEERBA ERRAHKHMBARAKESHE THF
A BERA  BEZEFFAM ESXEKRIHRENT
BT EHM - Bt EXEBERREARSRELARE
2 WEBARZERATRE—TEE -

We identified the above matter as a key audit matter due
to the significant judgement made by the directors in
determining the possible outcome and implications of
these litigations on its financial statements.

EEBR IR FEERERBAREREE  RESEENE
EZEFAARLENERREVBEBRERNTERTE
TEHE R FIER -

HAREZEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BE2ERNAIEERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the assessment on the

impact of current litigation cases included:
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Eb IR S

FEIMEET ERREFRE

Obtaining relevant legal documentations regarding those
litigation from the legal team of the Group;

B BESENZEZEBRGEMEZSRLNEEEEX
(E3E

Discussing with the management and the Company’s legal
team on their views and seeking collaborative evidence
that applied to substantiate the position of the Company;
HEBER BERRMEREBRREEERERN®
WERARZE BERARANGIERE

Engaging an independent legal expert to assist us to
review and understand the litigation;
BEBLREERGEE SR R T HEAMFD

Considering the contingency of such litigation and its
potential financial impact that may have to cast on the
consolidated financial statements;
ZRBBRDNBAM N E AT HRE M BRRELD
BEMGTE

Challenging the basis for the Group’s assessment that no
provision is required for these litigation; and

Bit EEEHBARZFRAHZEEOTEOKE
&

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure as set
out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
FHE BERBERGE VSRR 30T ik 7R 2 R -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the Other
Information. The Other Information comprises all the information in the
Company annual report other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT EEHIMEBZGESHBEHRREKRE

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ZEE

STATEMENT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the EEHEAMGEAETBRRBRERES AR
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material REGF R ME R 2 AN EARERFRIEE
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s BRF WHEHABEEEER 2 ZHAREE -
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, EELEMBERERE BRIt 2 MRS BlEE

as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility A%  EEMIARAREANRMEMREMAL
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this AEAES B LA EE -
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a  AEREBSEMRE - BXIEERIRIEESZE
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will pi:3 H‘J;_ﬁZ%’f? REe B K — T 2 ERFERMR
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements L7 HEIR o $EERMR I A] R B FES R AES - WA
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, EIJ&ELB/\/\IE%EHM N A EE AERIEZ
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to EREPBEHRRIEL Z&BERE - BIGBERR

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these AR BE KA o

=t

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise VEBIRIEE B RECERETEX TIEZ — 55
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism EENRERZBIREDPTEEL A IREEE

throughout the audit. We also: EERREE - BEN

sk Bl K B Af AR A B S AR e BRRE Sk R AR P

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, B 7 ERERRAREE R EAITE
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, V RBFEABEZERRE  UNRERFTE R
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to B VEMEBRERATE S HIRMHER
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a EEE’\‘HXE’FEJ e NER A EBEBER-
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one R PR Al s B i R B ) B[R R BE RS IR
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, BEFE Y v B RERBRMER S NEER
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of LB IRFETRATEIE -

internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit o THRHAEZBRZ NIE RETA &
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the BENTEE ZEZERF T’E]I EE T
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion H EEBEAPEZEZAEREEERER -

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT EEHIMEBZGESHBEHRREKRE
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2EE@#@

STATEMENT (continued)
° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and °
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the °
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the °
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the °
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other =

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant =t

i

Bt

AEEEMASBRZRELLAES
FHER MR EZ A B

HEERABBKEGTEEZREMLE
L WIRIFECEBZERER BT
EEAFERASHRBEREBEZERTHBN
AL AJges BEREZHELERENR
B WESSHERAB/FEERT
AR E  BIZAR R REE P IRARE
REIBHEEVBHRRAZEBPE - =X
HEBEKETE  BERTESZER - &
Eme AN B ERBE REE B M
G ZEBZRRE - AN REBHRBER
AEEEE EEETHRELE -

NS

AR AMBEBRRIBEBE®R  RBELA
R(BREEER) UWREAVBHRERE
BEANRMEMER S REM

B BEEEANERAEXBEDIUBKER
ESGRRNMEE ZBREE  URKEEHM
BHRRERER -BEFRERE BEER
Wi BEEEZERIE U#HERER
EERFEE -

HEZZEERB(ETRE)ERIEZ
18E  KRELREARZER  BRESERE

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control ZRIZHET R 2 MEPEEYE 2 (R B RFRFE o

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

McM (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number — PO6633
3rd Floor,

Parklane Building,

233 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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[PPREPRIEY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBEER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZF-—ZL—-—4#=H=+4—HIFFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEREF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaF FET TFHT
Revenue Woas 6 99,807 69,643
Cost of sales SHE A (75,028) (51,776)
Gross profit E A 24,779 17,867
Other income and expenses, net HEmWAKES - F5E 7 3,279 1,595
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO HEMAX (4,499) (3,360)
Administrative expenses TR (25,076) (37,043)
Impairment losses on other receivables £ fth i Uy BR T8 5L (E 5 18 = (2,438)
Impairment losses on promissory notes 7% i, Z & E E5 18 (2,000) (2,000)
Operating results REEE (8,517) (25,379)
Finance costs BB AR 8 (13,599) (13,850)
Loss before tax bREi AT EE 9 (17,116) (39,229)
Income tax credit FriSHii e 10 549 453
Loss for the year FEEE (16,567) (38,776)
Loss for the year attributable: FEEBEREN:
Equity holders of the Company RRAGERFFEA (17,974) (35,239)
Non-controlling interests JEFERR A = 1,407 (3,537)
(16,567) (38,776)
HK Cents HK Cents
AL Al
Loss per share attributable to owners AT EA AEEESR
of the Company (HK cents) 518 (FB4l)
Basic R 13(a) (1.20) (2.35)
Diluted e 13(b) (1.20) (2.35)
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CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERERHEME2ERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #H#ZE_-ZFE—-—#=H=—1—HIFFEZ

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kzt FExT FAT
Loss for the year FEFE (16,567) (38,776)
Other comprehensive income FEHM2ERE
for the year, net of tax: HIBRTHIE ¢
Item that may be reclassified HEMEEH S HEE 1855
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIHEE
Exchange differences arising from BMEGINE B R R B S
translation of financial statements WEMEEXCERERE
of overseas subsidiaries 28,092 (23,922)
Total comprehensive expense FELXHBAXEE
for the year 11,525 (62,698)
Total comprehensive income FEZERKRA
for the year attributable to: BEREBER
Owners of the Company RAFHEAA 9,001 (58,174)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR e 2,524 (4,524)
11,525 (62,698)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE BRI R

As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-——#=/H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F ki 22
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wizt FTET FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 14 723,058 657,679
Construction in progress EETR 14 53,082 48,826
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 65 584
Mining rights related assets RIEERBEE 16 52,767 46,578
828,972 753,667
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 18 7,018 8,251
Promissory notes B 19 = 2,000
Trade receivables Z 5 EWERE 20 11,345 -
Deposits, prepayments and other e BNRIEREM
receivables Uy AR 1A 21 13,812 14,044
Cash and cash equivalents B4 MESEEHER 22 5,916 2,141
38,091 26,436
Current liabilities REEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 74 555
Trade and other payables ENE SR &
H o fE A 5008 24 103,281 61,186
Interest-bearing borrowings ATBEE 25 300 300
Bonds E% 26 13,337 19,107
Promissory notes AR 27 - 12,500
Tax payables FEfTIR 65,502 60,256
Convertible bonds AR ES 28 24,717 21,396
207,211 175,300
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (169,120) (148,864)
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBHARE 659,852 604,803
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE BRI R

As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-——#=/H=+—H

2021 2020
=B —F —ETEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mat F&ET FET
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 = 74
Trade and other payables BE SRR R
HbEATERIE 24 1,328 802
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEBE 25 408,492 364,872
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE 37 887 1,435
410,707 367,183
Net assets EEFE 249,145 237,620
Capital and Reserves BEXRFEE
Share capital R AN 29 89,807 89,807
Reserves HiE 31 124,065 115,064
Equity attributable to equity holders of AN RIS 5B A LS
the Company s 213,872 204,871
Non-controlling interests JEFERR A = 35,273 32,749
Total equity ERBEE 249,145 237,620

The financial statements on pages 62 to 171 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2021 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
ERE
Director

EF
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)
mEREREEBR
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #H#ZE_-ZFE—-—#=H=—1—HIFFEZ
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG N
Foreign
Issued currency Share  Convertible Non-
share Share  translation Option notes  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
AEE  BRE TERTE
BEARE  RiHER fith e e ZiHE Nt FERER a5t
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tén TER TEx  TEn  TER Tén TR TEr  TEn
Asat 1 April 2020 RZZ-EFMA-H 89,807 1,842,983  (36,306) - 12543 (1,704,156) 204,871 32749 287,620
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - (17974  (17,974) 1407 (16,567)
Other comprehensive income LYl
Bxchange differences aising from - RREENHB LA BEHR
translation of financial statements of ~ FiEE B EE
overseas subsidliaries - - 26,975 - - - 26,975 1,17 28,092
Changes for the year EEEH - - 26,975 - - (17,974) 9,001 2,524 11,525
At 31 March 2021 R_2--F=A=1-H 89,807 1,842,983 (9,331) - 12543 (1,722,130) 213872 35,273 249,145
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REREZBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2021 ##Z —Z-—4#=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRER AR
Foreign
Issued currency Share  Convertible Non-
share Share  tranglation QOption notes  Accumulated controling
capital  premium reserve resenve reserve losses  Sub-fotel  interests Total
NERE  BRE TAERE
BETRE  RINEE e G4 BE  EZHER Nt FEERES it
HK§000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK§000  HKS000  HKS'000
Tén  TEr  TEnr  TEn AR Tén  TEr  TEnr  TEn
Asat 1 Aprl 2019 RZE-NFMA-H 80807 1842983 (13371) 26703 12543 (1,695,620 263045 372713 300318
Lapse of share options BERELH - - - (26703 - 26,703 - - -
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (35,239 (35239 (3537  (38.776)
Other comprehensive income: Et 2 :
Exchange diferences arisng fom ~ RAZSHNHB A ABHESRE
translation of financial statements of ~ HEE 7 EF £
overseas subsidliaries - - (2293 - - - (2293 987) (23922
Changes for the year FEEH - - (295 (26,709 - (8536)  (58,174) (4524) (62,698
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-EF=f=1-H 89,807 1842983  (36,306) - 12543 (1,704,156) 204,871 32,749 237,620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREREBR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZF-—ZL—-—4#=H=+4—HIFFE

2021 2020
—B-—fF —ETHF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FTER FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REKEL ZENRERE
Loss before tax BRTRIE IR (17,116) (39,229
Adjustments for: HATEEENRE
Depreciation on property, plant and W - BB R A R ER
equipment and mining rights related BREEBEENITE
assets 36,250 33,135
Finance costs RE KA 13,599 13,850
Gain on waiver of interest of R FRA B E
borrowings - (1)
Gain on waiver of interest on e TR EERR B8
convertible notes Wz 167 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRBEEENE 519 565
Impairment losses on other receivables — E b [ U BR T8 (B /&5 18 - 2,438
Provisions written back BE R = (1,662)
Bank interest income RITHEUA (14) 48
Gain on waiver of other payables e A RS RRIBEM M R (196) -
Impairment losses on promissory notes 7 X ZE R EE 18 2,000 2,000
Operating result before working REBEESEFAWN
capital changes KRG 35,209 11,144
Changes in inventories FE# 1,942 642
Changes in deposits, prepayments & ENRIEREM
and other receivables FENARTE B &) 1,395 2,873
Changes in trade receivables Z S EWRTEEE) (11,345) -
Changes in trade and other payables FERTE SRR R EHA
JEt BR IR 38,898 35,308
Cash generated from operation CEEREEZRE 66,099 49,967
Overseas tax paid EAEINEIE — -
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEfNHEZFEED 38 (45) (93)
Interest paid BAF A = ®)
Net cash generated from operating HEHEE FBELZHRERE
activities 66,054 49,866
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREREBR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 ##Z - E—-—F=H=+4—HIFFZ

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEREF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FTER FAT
Cash flow from investing activities RETHEEZRERE
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE  WEMEE
equipment (41,588) (59,281)
Expenditure incurred on mining rights ~ RIBHEABEEE L 2
related assets 53 (4,568) (824)
Expenditure incurred on construction — FEETIZEA 7B
in progress (57) (855)
Interest received 2 HFIE 14 48
Net cash used in investing activities REFZEHFFAZRESFEHE (46,199) (60,912)
Cash flow from financing activites & EZH2HERE
Proceeds from borrowings raised REFESBERNE
;| 38 52,562 39,114
Repayment of borrowings EEER 38 (48,709) (26,084)
Repayment of convertible bonds BE Bk ES 38 (1,207) (1,204)
Principal element of lease payment MERFZ TS 38 (555) (543)
Repayment of promissory notes BEANEE (12,500) -
Repayment of bonds EEES 38 (6,267) -
Net cash (used in)/from financing MEEE (FTH)FEEe
activities FEE (16,676) 11,283
Net increase in cash and cash ReRkBELEHEER
equivalents B hnEEE 3,179 237
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April REA—BzBe KRS
g EPELE 2,141 2,196
Effect of foreign exchange rate MEREE) 2 B HEE
changes, net 596 (292)
Cash and cash equivalents at R=ZA=+—BzBEER
31 March REe%ERAE 22 5,916 2,141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room A-B, 8th
Floor, Centre Mark Il, 305-313 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to
as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is the functional currency of the Company, with
values rounded to the nearest thousand. The functional currency
of the Group’s operating subsidiary, Tungguan Taizhou Mining

Company Limited (“Taizhou Mining”) is Renminbi (‘RMB”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$16,567,000 and as at 31 March 2021, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$169,120,000. In contrast, the Group’s bonds and
convertible bonds of approximately HK$13,337,000 and
HK$24,717,000 could become repayable on demand subject to
the court ruling, as disclosed in notes 26 and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively. Based on the
current liquidity position of the Group, the Group might have
financial uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In preparing
these consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the impact of the
current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group. The validity
of the Group to operate as a going concern is dependent upon
the successful outcomes of the Group to (i) attain profitable and
positive cash flows from operations; and (i) renew or extend the
existing borrowings, complete debt financing or obtain new
credit line, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements and financial obligations of the Group. Having
considered the above scenarios, the directors considered that it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. In order to strengthen the
Group’s capital base and liquidity in the foreseeable future, the

Group has taken the following measures:

e the directors of the Company have been taking various
cost control measures to tighten the costs of operations
and implementing various strategies to enhance the

Group’s revenue;
° negotiating with bankers and lenders to extend the

repayment terms of borrowings including bonds and

convertible bonds ; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption (Continued)
e a substantial shareholder of the Company agreed to
provide financial support to the Group to meet its liabilities

as and when they fall due; and

e  Continue to seek alternative debt and/or equity financing to

meet cash flow requirement.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and having
taken into account the available financial resources of the Group
together with the above measures, the directors have concluded
that the Group is able to continue as a going concern and to
meet their financial liabilities as and when they fall due for the
next twelve months. Should the Group be unable to continue as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been

reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted

by the Group are discussed in Note 3 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2 below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting

periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that states
“information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting
entity.” The amendments also clarify that materiality
depends on the nature or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with other information, in the

context of the financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had

no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning on or before 1 April 2020. These
new and revised HKFRSs include the following which may

be relevant to the Group.

74

2. BRHEIREBIERMBRE

p- 4= |

R ()

(@

(b)

FERHTREETEBMBHRSEER
(%)
EREBETEAEIRREEBET
HRFESH (EFTH) [ EXKESE ] HI
EZ
AEBEERAFEEREATES
ERE 1R NEFB G EREBH (&
FIAR) o REBRIARBER—FRMEH
EE - FEREL [WER - HHRIE
EXEHANSERHYE —RAR
MBHRENETEZRFPERIEHA RS
EREEBUBERNMBERERMEL
HURE - RIZERBEKX] - ZFHER]
AIEAERMEEBORRE R (TRNE
P BRE D EBHBEMERNE G
A ZHEERESEE -

RAFERAZZEIALEHZE
MBRERBREE -

EEMAEMRERNFTREBITE
B ERE%ER

REEHMAREEAR-ZZ=ZZFN
A—BszAifABzMBEREERM
B RAE R FET RESIBET B A
WEER - ZFAT REISTTE AR
T3k E £ R B IR AT Al e S A 5 [E 4
3.2 %2R o

ol



REESERERAF
T /B —FFR

P EESE |

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
HKFRS 17Insurance Contracts and the 1 January 2023
related Amendments
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to 1 January 2022
the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, 1 January 2021
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  To be determined
Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19- 1 June 2020
Related Rent Concessions

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19- 1 April 2021
Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of 1 January 2023
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS 1 January 2023
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of 1 January 2023
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax 1 January 2023
related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant 1 January 2022
and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous 1 January 2022
Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual 1 January 2022
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The area
involving critical judgement, and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these financial statements, are

disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below:

(@) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s

returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3. EXEFHEBEW

mERE (&)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the

holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign

currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between the non-

controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly

in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for

sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and any
contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs
are incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are

measured at their acquisition-date fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHBERME )
POLICIES (continuead)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

(b) EBEHREE(E)

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the
consideration transferred is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is

attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is
added to the sum of the consideration transferred in a

business combination to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s

identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units
(“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews
are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is
compared to its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is

not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(©

(d)

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of gold is recognised when control
of the gold has transferred, being when the gold had been
dispatched to the buyer’s specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the buyer has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the gold, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the gold and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the gold. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the gold are
delivered to the buyer as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as

only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not
creditimpaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss

allowance) of the asset.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Cost of self-constructed properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant,
of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an

appropriate proportion of production overhead.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or

loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Freehold land is not depreciated.

— Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated
over their estimated useful life, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10-30 years

—  Others 3-10 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and

its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised and measured on initial
recognition at cost only if the related economic benefits will
probably flow into the Group and their costs can be
measured reliably. However, the intangible assets acquired
through business combination not involving enterprises
under common control should be measured at fair value
separately as intangible assets when their fair values can

be reliably measured.

The useful life of the intangible assets shall be assessed
according to the estimated beneficial period expected to
generate economic benefits for the Group. An intangible
asset shall be regarded as having an indefinite useful life
when there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which
the asset is expected to generate economic benefits for the

Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method or
other reasonable systematic methods. For an intangible
asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful
life and amortisation method at least once at each financial

year-end, and makes adjustments when necessary.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
assets are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights with definite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Amortisation is provided using the unit of
production method based on the actual production volume
over the estimated total proved and probable reserves of

the ore.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Exploration and evaluation assets

These are stated at cost less impairment loss. Exploration
and evaluation assets included topographical and
geological survey drilling, exploratory drilling, sampling and
trenching and expenditure incurred for the technical
feasibility studies and incurred to secure further
mineralisation in the mine ore. Expenditure incurred prior to
obtaining the exploration and evaluation rights to explore
an area are written off as expense as incurred. Once the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting
the mineral resource had been determined and that the
project reaches development phase, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are amortised. If exploration
property is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the

total expenditure thereon will be written off.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets may

exceed its recoverable amount.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHBERME )
POLICIES (continuead)

(h) Leases (Continued) (hy HE&EE)
() The Group as a lessee () FEBERBEEA
At the lease commencement date, the Group REERBBEH  ~EEERE
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, REEEREEECE HHBA
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 A 3 AN By 52 BRFE & DA K
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets BEEEME (BAEEMS - =
which, for the Group are primarily laptops and office EASIAEERAZERE) SR
furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in Gho EREBFIEBEEER L
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides HENR  AEFIKRZFBEEEBR
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease RERGHBEEE R - BZE
basis. The lease payments associated with those MMEERCHERBENHEENRK
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an RIBHRNIRRFEERER AR -

expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is WHEEEERNL HEAEGEYF
initially recognised at the present value of the lease RABAEMEERERE R
payments payable over the lease term, discounted R WIHRBEERAE 2 X8,
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that IR MR ELSETE  BlfFE
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant FEERESEAE - YHER
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, % WEHEKAGTEEERER
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and FRERANEEFENEBRAE -
interest expense is calculated using the effective STEHEEGER  WABERETK
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not FEE @& F X 2 ] #HE
depend on an index or rate are not included in the o AUk Rt AR FTE £ & 5 B
measurement of the lease liability and hence are ZIBEA o

charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except for the
right-of-use assets that meet the definition of

investment property are carried at fair value.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated

useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included

in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Leases (Continued)

(i)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the
Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use

asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment properties and lease
liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease
or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is

classified as an operating lease.
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e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

i)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that
are not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the

individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being

measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0]

)

Inventories
The Group’s inventories include raw materials, work in

progress and finished goods.

Inventories are initially measured at cost. Cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of processing and
other expenditures. The actual cost of inventories upon

delivery is calculated using the weighted average method.

At the end of the reporting period, inventories are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. If the net
realisable value is below the cost of inventories, a provision
for decline in value of inventories is made and recorded in
profit or loss for the current period. After the provision for
decline in value of inventories is made, if the circumstances
that previously caused inventories to be written down
below cost no longer exist so that the net realisable value
of inventories is higher than their cost, the original provision
for decline in value is reversed and the reversal is included

in profit or loss for the current period.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion, the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale and relevant taxes. For raw materials, provision for
decline in value is made based on the categories of
inventories. For finished goods, provision for decline in

value is made on an item-by-item basis.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or

loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the

counterparty.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending on the classification of the financial

assets.

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one

of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the

effective interest method.
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e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Debt investments (Continued)

FVTOCI —

the investment comprise solely payments of principal

recycling, if the contractual cash flows of

and interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by both
the collection of contractual cash flows and sale.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity

to profit or loss.

FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment

(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

()

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It
is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit

or loss as other income.

Financial instruments

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Liabilities (Continued)

()

(i)

(i)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after

the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,

in which case they are stated at cost.

Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a

liability component and an equity component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

3. EXEFHEBEW

h S@MIAE)
sHERE(E)
B SRl AR E S (4E)

Financial Liabilities (Continued)
(i) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component (iii)
(Continued)
At initial recognition the liability component of the

ptERE - ATMERRENRE

convertible notes is measured at fair value based on BB 2 LA B A e ey [B) 4R
the present value of the future interest and principal BEVRERE @RISR

payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The
equity component is initially recognised at the
difference between the fair value of the convertible
bonds as a whole and the fair value of the liability
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to the

allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the capital reserve until

either the bonds is converted or redeemed.

If the bonds is converted, the capital reserve, together
with the carrying amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the bonds is redeemed, the capital reserve

is released directly to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Offsetting of financial instruments

(n)

(0)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets

and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount

is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this

translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange

rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or

loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

3. EXEFHEBEW

(p) MEBRE(E)
(i) #HERENEE

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates
on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of the
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the

gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate.
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e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asses. Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for

calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

(s)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements (Continued)
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the

payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to

certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments

are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-

market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments

at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant

date of the equity-settled share-based payments is

expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,

based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually

vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based

vesting conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-

market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if the
fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group

receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable

profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

102

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EXEFHEBEW

(t)

BiIE ()
EREFADNRGEMBRRTEER
B B0 MR E B S5 E R R T% A P
MEREMEZ BN EZREER - RIEKREA
BE—RIMBERT G ZEER
TR A E RIS 8 SR B 0ak 1 Al BE
FRFERHEAMHERZRE - RBA
RAERAARSBRBL R Z TR T
R MEREZREBBEHTRER (D
BREREBAHTHERE) BETFE
JERRTL i M) & & 51 M X Z H B At
BERBEMEL  AITE®RAEH
BERAE-

AEE SN E QR LB SRR H
BRERRNEERFMEREENER
MERZHEERREENARE - HEH
AEEEHEFERERNRLC LY
BF Z BN A R] BE IR R 5 A% SR 3 (= Al R
A o

BELERBEENFERELASREHR
ETRE - THRE BERHERD
i A AT AN B P B sk B8 0 B EE ©

[PPREPRIEY



REESERERAF
T /B —FFR

e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale. If
the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties are measured based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be

recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of

the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends

to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(w)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may

be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment,

which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segments.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

1056

3. EXE

v)

(w)

FTEERME @)

2 &P
REN B EMBEHRRTA2HAED
PIEH i%ETWfETFEHHF—JE@E’H &R
THEREABRFUSEERESRE
%%ﬁ%&ﬁlﬁ%&#ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁz,ﬂﬁ
BBERIER

o
o

DM

1B B E AL & 7 B0 I 2 54 B 7% B
GO BRIED B R AT EEL Lt
ERMRBLEE LERFME &
PR - "ﬁﬁ?u‘%ﬁiﬁfﬁﬂﬁxﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
AMEERREE M S HEUBRI -
WIEERIEBAREEZE D HBMET A Lt
REDRE - QIR RER A6 -

DHEEEBWMAEE  BXIFEE
BEMEENBEREHER AT

BEAEHOREZEMNSE MEEEH
AREEBES -
NEBETBEELIEEREMLEDE
(¥BEYEEAEBcARIBE ZA
RBENIT S EEEFDE -

OB TNERARERE

HE -

B EE
BUF R R A S E & B HERIGETER
IR RERERT 2 64 - B SR E AL RS -
FTEHER



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020/2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(w) Government grants (Continued)

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them

with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the

respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, if any. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where

appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are

possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic

information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:
— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk for a particular financial instrument;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the

Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has

increased significantly since initial recognition when

contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,

unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit

risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly

since initial recognition if the financial instrument is

determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A

financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

)

the financial instrument has a low risk of default;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its

contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iiy adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil

its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and

there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on

the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past

due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the

counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

— itis becoming probable that the counterparty will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit

or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking

information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the
expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (prior to 1
January 2019).

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive

from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was

used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the

financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 4,
AND ESTIMATES

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgments that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,

which are dealt with below).

(@) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful outcomes of the Group to
attain profitable and positive cash flows from operations.
Details are explained in note 1 to the consolidated financial

statements.

(b) Renewal of the group’s exploration permits
As detailed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain of the Group’s mining right permits had
been expired or to be expired within one year. The renewal
of such are subject to the discretion of relevant government
authorities. Based on past experience, the directors are of
the opinion that these permits would be renewed
successfully. Should the renewal of these permits were
unsuccessful, impairment on relevant property, plant and

equipment and mining rights related assets arise.

(c) Significant increase in credit risk
ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable

forward looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of trade and other receivables and
promissory notes
Management regularly reviews the impairment of trade and
other receivables and promissory notes to ensure
appropriate impairment loss for trade and other receivables
and promissory notes are recognised in consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
ECL on trade and other receivables and promissory notes

Where differences between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all cash flows that the Group expects to receives,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to change in
facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may

arise.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, an allowance for
impairment loss under ECL of approximately HK$2,000,000
was made on the Group’s promissory notes (2020:
HK$2,000,000). No allowance for impairment loss under
ECL was made on the Group’s trade and other receivables
(2020: HK$2,438,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

(c)

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and machinery of similar nature and functions. The
estimated useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of
the period that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s property, plant and

equipment.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment was approximately
HK$723,058,000 (2020: HK$657,679,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
mining and exploration assets

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and
mining and exploration assets is reviewed for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable in accordance with
the accounting policy as disclosed in note 3(i) to the
consolidated financial statements. The recoverable amount
of these assets, or where appropriate, the cash-generating
unit to which they belong, is the higher of its fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In determining the value in
use, estimation is made on the expected future cash flows
generated by these assets which are discounted at a

suitable discount rate to their present value.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, no impairment

losses (2020: Nil) was made on the Group’s property, plant

and equipment and mining and exploration assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Mine resources and reserves

(e)

Mining rights and mining development assets are amortised
over the estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance
with the production plans of the entities concerned and the
mineral resources and reserves of the mines using the units

of production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group’s
gold reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgments involved in developing such
information based on available geological, geophysical,
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance
becomes available and as economic conditions impacting

mineral prices and costs change.

Provision for claims on litigation

When accounting for provision for claims on litigation
against the Group, the Group has taken internal and
external advice in considering known claims and actions
made by or against the Group. It carefully assesses the
likelihood of success of a claim or action. Assessments and
estimations on provisions are made for claims or actions
against the Group on the basis of likely outcome, but no
provisions are made for those which in the view of

management are unlikely to succeed.

No provision (2020: Nil) was made in the consolidated

financial statements in relation to claims on litigation.
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e MR RMTE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the

impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported internally to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the types of goods

delivered or services provided.

This is also the basis upon which the Group is organised and
specifically focuses on the Group’s operating divisions. No
operating segments identified by the Board have been

aggregated in arriving at the reporting segments of the Group.

The directors primarily use a measure of (loss)/profit after tax to
assess the performance of the operating segments. However,
the directors also receive information about the segments’

revenue and assets on a monthly basis.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

()  Exploration of gold mine which principally engages in the
operation of exploration, mining, processing and sale of

gold concentrate and related products;

(i) Corporation which principally engages in investment

holding.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of the product and service line requires different resources
as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers are

carried out at arm’s length prices.
Segment results do not include finance costs. Segment assets

and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the

segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5.

e MR RMTE

Segment information by operating segments is presented as

follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021

-

N

N
kK

T EE

il
124

FAl 1

i

Pk

)
DZAEBERZINWNT

BE-Z-_-F=ZA=t—HLFE

Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
=& % EIf ] st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FET FH&T FE&xT FH&T
Segment revenue: pa=il
Revenue for external REINEBRF 2 W
customers 99,807 - - 99,807
Gross profit ESA 24,779 - - 24,779
Other income and expenses,  Hithg A R -
net FEE 2,734 (1,455) - 1,279
Operating expenses LB A (15,396) (14,179) = (29,575)
Segment results DEPELE 12,117 (15,634) - (3,517)
Finance costs BbE AR (7,164) (6,435) = (13,599)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREERE A (E518) 4,953 (22,069) = (17,116)
Income tax credit FriSHii e - 549 - 549
Net profit/(loss) for the year FERHN/(BE)F8E 4,953 (21,520) - (16,567)
Segment assets DEE E 866,253 332,610 (331,800) 867,063
Segment liabilities SEE (E (762,849) (497,951) 642,882 (617,918)
Capital expenditure BRI (46,149) (530) - (46,679)
Depreciation and amortisation  #78 % & §4 (35,090) (530) - (35,620)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. DEBEF(
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_T-_ZTF=-A=1+—HILEFE
Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
=& 41oFS ESfi #Et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FET FH&T FHET FHET
Segment revenue: 7 H R
Revenue for external REERF Z WS
customers 69,643 - - 69,643
Gross profit EH 17,867 - - 17,867
Other income and expenses, HAWA MR -
net FER 1,595 (4,438) - (2,843)
Operating expenses wEE A (22,575) (17,828) - (40,403)
Segment results DEBEELE (3,113) (22,266) - (25,379)
Finance costs & R AN (8,874) (4,976) - (13,850)
Loss before tax BB AT EE (11,987) (27,242) - (39,229)
Income tax credit FriS i e - 453 - 453
Net loss for the year FEBEFE (11,987) (26,789) - (38,776)
Segment assets DEEE 776,932 322,347 (319,176) 780,103
Segment liabilities DEEE (686,351) (470,219 614,087 (542,483)
Capital expenditure BEARFER (60,960) (543) - (61,503)
Depreciation and amortisation 47 & % # £ (33,135) (565) - (33,700)
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e MR RMTE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZEER &)
Geographical segments b 13 2 2B
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and other REFBZEBNNEBRPERA MR -
parts of the PRC whereas the principal markets for the Group’s MAEEERZTIEMBEFRPREM
products are mainly located in other parts of the PRC. & o
Segment information by geographical segments is presented as s D B2 5 2 D EBE R 25T ¢
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Segment revenue by location of REFHMEHE D Z
customers 2z
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and PR (REERS
Taiwan RPN & E 99,807 69,643
Non-current assets FRBEE
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and RE(TBESES -
Taiwan Bk AE 828,899 753,064
Hong Kong B 73 603
828,972 753,667
Revenue of approximately HK$100 million (2020: HK$70 million) MAKRBEZEARPETHEESE 2 KR
which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer. There #3100,000,000% ( = T = & F:
is one (2020: one) customer contributed 10% or more to the 70,000,000/ 7T) s RZETEZ_—F - B—%
Group’s revenues for 2021. ZEERF —R)RPFPERMASEE10%
HIA b2 g -
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FRENBHRRME

6. REVENUE 6. W=
WatEE HEEm O FE(ENMRE ST
- RERTRERE 2 BUTHME (A&
surcharges where applicable: ) :

Revenue represents the net value of goods sold, net of trade

discounts and returns and various types of government

2021 2020
—B-—F —ERCEREF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Revenue recognised at a point in time ERMERELERE 155
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HERRSE SRR
e
Sale of goods HEEm 99,807 69,643
99,807 69,643
OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET HWARMAX » B8
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Gain on waiver of interest on interest BestEEEN RN K
bearing borrowings = 1
Gain on waiver of interest on convertible BRI e E TN G
notes 167 -
Bank interests income RITHEIA 14 48
Provisions written back B E R - 1,662
Gain on waiver of other payables e BT ARIBER Y G 196 -
Government grant T EE 397 45
Non-operating income FEELE A 3,025 -
Other losses, net Hfb &8 - 558 (262) (161)
Other expenses HARZ (258) -
3,279 1,595
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e MR RMTE

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET 7.
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised
government grants of approximately HK$378,000 (2020: nil) in
respect of COVID-19 related subsidies, of which is related to
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Government of

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The government
grants of approximately HK$19,000 (2020: HK$45,000) is
related to unemployment allowance provided by the Government

of the Mainland China. The Group fulfilled all conditions attached

to the subsidies and recognised as other income.

HARBEX B8

BHE-_T-_—F=-A=1+—HLEFE &
5 B Bt 56 Y 68 A 7 25 4 I i B T RR BUAT AR
BE#I378,000 BT (=S =_FTF : &) - HJY
HEBRRIITHRE BT R [R5
EEH - BUSHAE419,0008 L (=%
£ ¢ 45,0008 7T) Ty B AR B ) AT HR 4
KEEUBR o NEBER R /AL FTH 23
R S ELRERR R LA U ©

FINANCE COSTS 8. EMIERA
2021 2020
—EB=-—-F —TEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Interest on bonds BEHE 497 518
Interest on convertibles bonds ARRESFE 4,528 3,945
Interest on borrowings e B 8,527 9,285
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 45 93
Others HAtb 2 9
13,599 13,850

There is no capitalisation of borrowing cost during the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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LOSS BEFORE TAX

©

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging

the following:

BRBLATE 1R

AEEZRBAT(BE), M DEMR T

B IRIR SRR -

2021 2020
—E--F —F-EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Cost of inventories sold EEFERAR 75,028 51,776
Auditors’ remuneration** % SR B & 1,379 1,765
Amortisation of mining rights related assets* £EHRAEHE A & 2= 2 2,401 1,208
Depreciation on property, plant VI - BB RERETE
and equipment 33,849 31,927
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 519 565
Impairment losses on other receivables HAb U ARIE < BB EE = 2,438
Impairment losses on promissory notes AR 2REEE 2,000 2,000
Staff costs including directors’ EIRAK(BRESHFH) :
emoluments:
Salaries, wages, allowances and benefits ~ #& » T8 » ZB K&
in kind BEYWH= 7,563 20,295
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R /R4& 5T &I 3% 215 371
Staff costs B IR 7,778 20,666

* Approximately HK$2,401,000 (2020: HK$1,208,000) are included

in cost of sales.

**  Approximately HK$179,000(2020: HK$565,000) was incurred for

the audit of the subsidiaries.
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10. INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FRBHIE %

2021 2020
=B —F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Current tax — overseas B ER 1 — b
Provision for the year NS = -

Deferred tax IEREF I8

Credited to profit or loss (Note 37) A= (H7£37) (549) (453)
Income tax credit FTiSTiE % (549) (453)

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, profits tax rate for the
first HK$2 million of assessable profits of qualifying corporations
established in Hong Kong will be lowered to 8.25%, and profits
above that amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5% for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2020: 25%).

Pursuant to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance, B B 2B 5 £ 75
48 B R F R R A B i 7E BP K B 28 BR B B O R R R
HBAN(RI 72011 585F) (transliterated as General Administration
of Customs and the State Administration of Taxation on the Issues
of Preferential Taxation Policies for Further Implementing the
Western Development Strategy (Cai Shui 2011 No. 58)%), from 1
January 2011 to 31 December 2021, the enterprises in the
western region, which engaged in encouraged industries as
indicated in the 75 &BHb & & B E & % B #% (transliterated as
Catalogue of Encouraged Industries of Western Region®) and &
HEEEFARIEERRQOIT1ER) (B1EF) (transliterated as
Catalogue of Industrial Structure Adjustment Guidance (2011
Revised)”) (BIR# & Z <2013F 5215%) (transliterated as
National Development and Reform Commission Order 2013 No.
21%) and which derive 70% of their operating income from the
encouraged industries could apply for a tax incentive.

126

(E_T_TF=A=+—HIEFE  BI&
MSHMARS - REBKRILZAEBEERE
RGN E2BEBTZMNEMRREHEE
8.25% - 1M 8 18 7% & BE HY )it F) 5 7B 12 16.5%
RRR R o

HREZ2_2 - —FEK_2_2F= A
—+—BIEFEWEERBEATMERE
A MAEEYESEEFSTIELEE

REPEEEABRE(TEEMENRZED
REEMEBBEZBIG - HEMERQ
AlZBERA25% (ZTZFF : 25%) °

BB B BERGSE R EHEAZERNR
A BT 7 50 K 5 2 B RS A A AR AR R R
MEM(BFRi2011 585%)) BT —— &
—A—HR&-_T-_—+-_A=+—8"
FEPR SR R Y PRSP R S B R AR 2 B %)
RCEFEERABEGBRHZ (0O EX) (18
ED(BRENES2013FFE2158) FRTE
ZEENEER - HEKERATO% R B8
BEEZR ¥ TRBEHIBES -



N

k)iﬁlzf?’“ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ’&ﬁ
“EBECR SR -FER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

10.

After getting in-charge tax bureau’s approval, those enterprises

could enjoy a reduced EIT rate of 15% from the statutory EIT

rate of 25%.

The Company’s operating subsidiary Taizhou Mining has been
granted a reduced EIT rate of 15% from year 2015 to 2021.

No EIT has been made in the consolidated financial statements

as the Group did not have any assessable profits subject to EIT
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and accounting

loss at applicable tax rates:

FrEdE e @)

REEBRIER  ZECEAREED
EFTISTb% MEZZEE - BIR15%H
M EFER -

RRRE BB R R ARMNESE D BEROER]
R_E—RAFE_T-_—FZZ15% 218
BOREAMBRE -

HMRAAEBBE-_T-_—F=A=+—8
IHEFEEWEEERAARRTCEMSRZ
JERTURA - B BRI E B RERME
EFSBUELEE(Z22F : &) -

ISR ERMEAEZE
MEZHERIMT

R

2021 2020
—E-—F T -THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Loss before tax LRI (17,116) (39,229)
Tax at the applicable tax rate in Hong Kong 12 &8 #E A R5+E 2 Fi1A (2,824) (6,473)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAMBRAS 2 RIETE 3,816 4,626
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBMA 2 RE & (929) (430)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised TERR 2 MIBEBE 2 BB
2 572 1,798
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ = EM AAEREEER
operating in other jurisdictions BRI TRME & (86) 26
Income tax credit PSR % (549) (453)
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FREMBHRERME
11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE M. EEFMR LIRS HFES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors () E=
Details of the remuneration of directors of the Company are KATRIEEZHNFBLOT ¢
as follows:
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIS B N FHEHI 2 383N IEHE 2
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows: EFEEHMWT -
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e FERR BIRER
we EYFIz= sHEIHt R &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FET FET FET FET
For the year ended BE-_Z-—%=H
31 March 2021 =+—HLtFE
Executive directors: HITES :
Li Dahong EYNIN 2,186 - 18 2,204
Ma Xiaona R 1,286 - 18 1,304
Wang Hong Yin (i) pa =1 () 166 - 8 174
3,638 - 44 3,682
Independent non-executive B JEITES :
directors:
Cheung Wei Hung SRAEE 272 - - 272
Guo Wei il§= 272 - - 272
Lam Albert Man Sum MER 272 - - 272
816 - - 816
4,454 — 44 4,498
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(@)

Directors (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M. ESFMREEEaHFES ®)

(@) E=Z(#E)

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
e FAR RIREF
e EYF = FHEIH K aEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FHIT FHIT FHIT FHIT
For the year ended BE-Z-Z5=H
31 March 2020 =t+t—HLEE
Executive directors: HITES :
Li Dahong FRE 2,820 - 18 2,838
Ma Xiaona b5l 1,660 - 18 1,678
Wang Hong Yin ARE 400 - 18 418
4,880 - 54 4,934
Independent non-executive B3I FHITESE :
directors:
Cheung Wei Hung SRR 320 - - 320
Guo Wei ElE 320 - - 320
Lam Albert Man Sum MEDF 320 - - 320
960 - - 960
5,840 - 54 5,894
()  Ms. Wang Hong Yin resigned as executive director with () ARSHRIBHERTES BT

effect from 10 August 2020
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE M. EEFHEEERSFES @)
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (cContinued)
(b) Five highest paid employees b) EEESFES
The five highest paid individuals for the year included two REAFE  AARaTATEREMRA
(2020: three) directors whose remuneration are disclosed ZEIRFZR)EF - BE
above. During the year ended 31 March 2021, there are CERENBE - BHE-_T-_—F=
three (2020: three) highest paid individuals of the Group A=1+—HIEFE #AREEMREA
had been included in the following table due to the same T2 HMAER - T RBREARAEE=
remuneration of the last two individuals. The remunerations H(ZEZEF - =R)meaHFAL-
of the remaining three (2020: three) individuals were as BT=R(ZFZFF: ZF)ATZ
follows: T
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &4 ~ 8L R EW R 1,214 1,768
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIEFR 45 18
1,259 1,786
Their remunerations of the remaining individuals were within BRTAT S ER AT EE -

the following band:

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
—B=—F e Sl a3
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZE 7L E 1,000,000 70 3 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 &L 2

1,500,000 7 7T - 1
3 3
During the year, no remunerations were paid by the Group REEBRFAVESNE TESK
to the directors or the highest paid individuals as an Em#FAT  ERMBAREE SN
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as BAREER 2 ZE) S ERBEBME -
compensation for loss of office. No directors of the RAREERNFANENRZXREN

Company waived or agreed to waive any remunerations EEMME o
during the year.
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(©

Directors’ Material interests in transactions
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other significant transaction, arrangement
and contract in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a part and in which a director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at

the end of the year or at any time during the year.

12. DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

M. EEZEFMREEESHEE &)
€ EBRXS THRAWZEAEHR

iR a M mRM 36 A EESN
RELIRFERTMER - AQFH
BV REAKEXBERMAR
ﬂ%%&%%ZE@E)\iﬁéﬁﬂPE}%
SRR EA G Z HMBEAR
BHREH

12- Hﬁ/%\
HE-_ZT-_—FR-_FT-_ZTF=-A=+—
BIEFE  ARa &R SRR E

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RNABESZEBEEANEEERERAL#EES
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on BINRATER BE EE
the following:
(a) Basic (@ B
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEZEF
Loss attributable to the equity holders NAFIERFEE AL
of the Company (HK$'000) BB (F%&T) (17,974) (35,239)
Weighted average number of ordinary BRETERRZ
shares in issue (in thousands) I E(FAR) 1,496,782 1,496,782
Basic loss per share (HK cents) FREXREECE (1.20) (2.35)
(b) Diluted (b) #5F
No diluted losses per share has been presented as there ﬁﬂ%ﬂ%% %fﬁﬂé CREARE
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding for ZE-—FRkZZTEZEF=A

the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. The effect of
the conversion of convertible bonds was not included in the
calculation of diluted losses per share as they are anti-
dilutive during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. 9% - BMERZRE

Furniture,
fixtures
Mine Plantand  and office Motor Construction
properties ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Sub-total  in progress Total
il %B
BENE BERRE RBLARG RE M ERIE 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000
b ThT ThT TERL AL T b
Cost [
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA-A 902,008 15,946 210 3,229 921,393 51,433 972,826
Additions RE 57,216 - - - 57,216 855 58,071
Exchange realignment B R (60,715) (1,073) " (217 (62,012 (3462) (65,474)
At 31 March 2020 and RZFZZE=A=1+-AR
1 April 2020 ZZCTEMA-A 898,509 14,873 203 3,012 916,597 48,826 965,423
Additions "B 40,721 - - 861 41,588 57 41,645
Disposals HE - @ - (60) (64) - (64)
Exchange realignment ERRR 77,006 616 9 233 71,864 4,199 82,063
At 31 March 2021 RZE--F=f=1-H 1,016,242 15,485 212 4046 1,035,985 53082 1,089,067
Accumulated depreciation ~ BiHE
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEEA-A 281,952 12,780 210 1,160 246,102 - 246,102
Charge for the year TEELH 31,054 393 - 480 31,927 - 31,927
Exchange realignment B 5 R (18,145) (867) " (92) (19,111) - (19,111)
At 31 March 2020 and RIZ-ZE-A=1t-AR
1 April 2020 ZE-TEMA-A 244,861 12,306 203 1,548 258,918 - 258918
Charge for the year REEXH 32,430 - - 1,419 33,849 - 33,849
Written back on disposals &K EE - @ - (60) (64) - (64)
Exchange realignment ERRE 20,839 547 9 (1,17) 20,224 - 20,224
At 31 March 2021 WZB--£=8=+-H 298,130 12,849 212 1,736 312,921 - 312,927
Carrying amount: IREE:
At 31 March 2021 RZE=-E=A=+-H 718,112 2,636 - 2,310 723,058 53,082 776,140
At 31 March 2020 RZE-EF=A=+-H 663,648 2,567 - 1,464 657,679 48,826 706,505
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 9035 - BERRE #)
(Continued)
Impairment assessment RE S
During the year, the Group had appointed an independent FR - AREBRTB EEGEMNUATG
professional valuer to assess the recoverable amounts of the REBZWME - M7 KR E N M ERTEEHE
Group’s property, plant and equipment and mining rights related AEEZI KL% TEERESEREK
assets, in particular of those employed in the gold mining %F)’TFH% C B EEREARERE(ZE
segment, and no impairment loss (2020: Nil) was recognised. TE M) niESBEREEERAEB
The recoverable amount has been determined based on a value- @ HEET ZGHENEBERSAREHE
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial it E A FERPREE RS RETE
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior H - BWE REBAMARANTREXRAEEE
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow 12%(— T -ZTF 1 12%) - AREERSF
projections is 12% (2020: 12%) per annual. The growth rate g AEEBRcELEN Y RBEREZ
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Group’s of cash BERAFGFOU(ZE_ZF 0%) I
generating unit beyond the five-year period is 0% (2020: 0%) per BEBEXBELEYMEHEIBHED o
annual which based on past performance and its expectations in FHEBEE ZHMBTE/ES RGN
relation to market development. Other key assumptions for the ERANTH(BEEEREZRENXK) -
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/ EBRGHAEERBARE -EERE
outflows which include budgeted revenue and gross margin, MZERZZEMEIEREEB T EE
such estimation is based on the past performance. The directors ERRMEEREAR IR O S5E -
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.
15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET 15. EFAREEE
The movements in right-of-use assets are as follows: FREEEZEHHMT ¢
Leased properties
HEWE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—NEFMH—H 1,149
Depreciation charge for the year FENEER (5695)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 NZEZEF-A=+—HARZZ=ZTF
WmA—H 584
Depreciation charge for the year FENEER (519)
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-_—F=A=+—H 65
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 15. EFREEE &)

Depreciation charge on the right-of-use assets is recognised
using the straight-line method over a period of 1 to 2 years
(2020: 1 to 2 years).

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 2 years
(2020: 1 to 2 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is

enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the

lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

EREEEZHEERAR —EMFE (T
TFE —EWF) IERNEAEREER -

AEENZMEROREEBHERAE -
HEANZEEEMIFE2F (2%
FAR2%F)FI - BEBHRRTIRERE
R BREBETRGREGSE - RE
EHEMEFENTREHENRER - &
SEEAEHNNERLETE SN THT
HHAR] -

BT AR A R E A ERRERIERS
RSB TENIE R RE - AEEE
TERREERER -

purposes.

2021 2020
—B-—F —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBGEREMEZ
(included in finance costs) Gt AREKA) 45 93
Lease liabilities of approximately HK$74,000 (2020: RZEZ—F=H=+—H cERHEE

HK$629,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$65,000 (2020: HK$584,000) as at 31 March
2021.
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16. MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS

6. RIBEMEBAEE

HK$'000
FHT
Cost RN
At 1 April 2019 RZTE—NFMHHA—H 65,248
Additions =1 824
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B (4,392)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZE-EF=A=+—H
LZE-TFYH—H 61,680
Additions NE 4,568
Exchange realignment bE H % 5,306
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-_—F=A=+—H 71,554
Accumulated amortisation B £
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—-NFHA—H 14,943
Provision during the year FERE 1,208
Exchange realignment M 5, B (1,049)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RIZEZZF=HA=+—H
EZ_Z_FFMHA—H 15,102
Provision during the year FEEE 2,401
Exchange realignment bE H AR 1,284
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-_—F=A=+—H 18,787
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H 52,767
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_TF=A=+—H 46,578
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16. MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group had appointed an independent
professional valuer to assess the recoverable amounts of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and mining rights related
assets, in particular of those employed in the gold mining
segment, and no impairment loss (2020: Nil) was recognised.
The recoverable amount has been determined based on a value-
in-use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 12% (2020: 12%) per annual. The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Group’s of cash-
generating unit beyond the five-year period is 0% (2020: 0%) per
annual which based on past performance and its expectations in
relation to market development. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the past performance. The directors
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to

exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

Mining rights related assets represent the cost of exploration

permit and mining rights permit.

The Group’s exploration permit and mining right permit with no.
of T611200805020066667 and C6100002014084120135479
were renewed on 9 October 2020 and 17 November 2020 for a

period of two years and seventeen months, respectively.
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. B A R E =
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Unlisted shares, at cost JELETAR - IR E 10 10
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B B A RIFRIE 121,105 120,743
121,115 120,753
Notes: Wit -
(@) Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 are @ RZZEZ—F=ZA=+—HBXRaMBEA
follows: AZEEWT
Place and date of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
establishment/Type of Issued and fully paid up interest attributable to  Principal activities and
Company name Company capital/registered capital the Company place of operations
ARER SMAL/ R ER BRTRERRE/ APARERERDL FEEBREEHE
B/ ARER HEMEX
Direct %  Indirect %
BEE% 5%
SSC Mandarin Mining British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 - Investment holding in Hong
Investment Limited 2 October 2007 Kong
Limited liability Company
XENHEEREERAA %EF?K%}?% 11 ET BRR EEBRERR
—Z%Z tiﬂ-ﬂ A
AREER
T G Mining Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 - 100 Investment holding in Hong
9 November 2005 Kong
Limited liability Company
EEBETMNERDA Bk 2,000,000 7T EEBREER
“ZERFT—ANR
BREELT
SSC Sino Gold Mining PRC Registered and paid-up capital - 90  Investment holding in the PRC
Investment Company Limited 5 February 2004 of US$7,000,000
Sino foreign equity joint
venture
XERe (R EERERR HE 7,000,000 5 77 i} EREREER
BRAA —ZZME_ARAE BERBRBKA
mONRERE
Tongguan Taizhou PRC Registered and paid-up capital - 72 Exploration, mining and mineral
Mining Company Limited 29 June 2004 RMB10,000,000 processing in the PRC
(“Taizhou Mining”) Domestic Company
BB AONBEARRLAA  HE ABEH 10,00000070 ER RN FRRBNT
(TRME%D) “EEMERAZTAE AMERRERRA
BRI
T G Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 - Investment holding in Hong
30 August 2018 Kong
Limited liability Company
EREARFRAF Bk 10,000 7T EEBREER

—2-\F\A=+H
NG
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17. R A Bl ()
Notes: (Continued) BieE : ()
(o)  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free (b) EWRHBARRBELAEIKE 28 NAK
and repayable on demand. BER(EE o
The following table shows information on a subsidiary Taizhou TRIREBEIEIEAG#EZS ([ IR REZE D)
Mining that have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the MEAREEBER 2B AR AMEE -
Group. The summarised financial information represents financial B E B 75 k8 £ B A A B e 3K 88 BT AN
information of Taizhou Mining before inter-company eliminations. B 7 URER -
Name Taizhou Mining
=% A MEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$°000 HK’000
THET FET
Principal place of business/country of TELEMB K TER PRC PRC
establishment e Fh
% of ownership interests/voting rights JEIEREZFIFE 2GR
hold by NCI B REEEIL
at 31 March: R=ZA=+—H: 28% 28%
Non-current assets ERBEE 828,899 753,064
Current assets RBEE 37,355 23,868
Current liabilities mEaE (143,100) (97,650)
Non-current liabilities EREAE (619,749) (588,700)
Net assets FEE 103,405 90,582
Accumulated NCI REHIEERE R 23,322 21,903
Year ended 31 March: BE=ZHA=+—HBLFE:
Revenue Wz 99,807 69,643
Profit/(loss) wA,(E18) 5,067 (11,987)
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI DEEEETERE R 2
ar], (E518) 1,419 (3,356)
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18. INVENTORIES 18. &
2021 2020
—E-—F T -THF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FTER FAT
Raw material R#1 78 65
Work in progress R 2,254 1,429
Finished goods BURK oh 4,686 6,757
7,018 8,251
The carrying amount of inventories at the end of reporting period REMEAR - BRI FENEREE

that were carried at cost amounted to approximately

8,251,000 7T) ©

A #7,018000% t( = & = & F:

HK$7,018,000 (2020: HK$8,251,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in
‘cost of sales’ during the year amounted to approximately
HK$75,028,000 (2020: HK$51,776,000).

As at 31 March 2021, there no inventories (2020:
HK$19,473,000) pledged as collateral with a financer pursuant
to the terms and conditions as mutually agreed between Taizhou
Mining and the financer. During the year ended 31 March 2021,
the security arrangement was changed and the Group’s
inventories were no longer being pledged as collateral, as

detailed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. PROMISSORY NOTES 19. A HZEiE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Promissory notes AR - 2,000

Given the Company’s needs for financing, the concerns in
engaging alternative service provides for the same work, and
on-going opportunities under the Consultancy Agreement, at the
request of the Issuer, the Board had decided to extend the due

date of the said promissory notes to 1 April 2022.

The Group measures loss allowances for promissory notes at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. Given the repayment of the
promissory notes had been further extended by the Issuer which
indicating that the promissory noted are credit impaired. An
additional impairment loss of HK$2,000,000 (2020:
HK$2,000,000) was recognised during the year ended 31 March
2021.
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B ETAE P ER(RAELE
BEHREEREBE)  #Z2_T_—4F=H
=S+t BLFEEERBINREEIE
2,000,000/ 70 ( ZZ ZZ 4 : 2,000,000 78

JC) °



REESERERAF
T /B —FFR
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a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. The credit terms generally range from 30 to
180days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. Overdue

balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

No impairment loss on the trade receivables was recognised for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:nil).
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EZ EWERE

2021 2020
—E-—F T FF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FTER FHET
Trade receivables H 5 AR 11,345 -
The aging analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice B2 RWERBLCMGREER  BEBEEEAR

date, and net of allowance, is as follows: HAZ 7| Z R T T
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECERF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 11,345 -
11,345 -
The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to REBERBE BT |28 9V 5
measure the loss allowance at 12m ECL. Individual credit FER12(E AEERMEEE R = EERE -
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over FrEEREBiB—FEHE LB PYEE

XBU BTG WEFEEEHHER
BAERE RSN ERCERERNNERRE
N WEREFPHARBEMNE,EEMN
EREERR - EEBH RN F30ZE180
A% EEPHREESEERH @
MR EE T HELERN -

HE - Z-_—F=ZA=+t—HItFE &
EREFEREERRRESE(ZZE=Z
FE) .
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21. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21
RECEIVABLES

An analysis of deposits, prepayments and other receivables are

BE - AAREREMERRE

Be  BANFRAEREMEKEEREZ S0

as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—% —E-—Tf
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
Deposits b 210 210
Prepayments TERTFRIE 7,645 7,888
Other receivables Hith U BRI 8,395 8,384
16,250 16,482

Less: provision of impairment of other B B ERRIER AR

receivables (2,438) (2,438)
13,812 14,044
The fair values of deposits and other receivables approximate Re REMEWARIE 2 A FEEEREE

their carrying amounts.

The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows:

A -

EMEEERREZEHMT

2021 2020

—B-—F —ERCERE

HK$’000 HK$'000

T FH&T

At the beginning of the year RE] 2,438 -
Provision for impairment of other Hith fe i AR IBR BB

receivables = 2,438

At the end of the year RER 2,438 2,438

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no impairment loss
under lifetime ECL had been provided to other receivables
(2020: HK$2,438,000).

142

REE-T-_—F=A=+—HILFER "
THEHEEEBEE ITHEREBEEBEER
HtEWEBFARBEB (ST F:
2,438,000 ) °



22.

23.

REESERERAF
T /B —FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 March 2021, approximately HK$5,751,000 (2020:
HK$2,101,000) of the Group’s cash and bank balances were
denominated in RMB which is subject to exchange control
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC.

However, under the PRC’s foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulation, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign business.

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining leases payments, discounted at the Group’s

22.

23.

RekReEZEER
RZE-Z—F=A=+—H ~"&E£EH
5,751,000/ 7c (ZF ZZ 4 : 2,101,000%
) 2B RIRITHEBIUARKESE - 1
/BN A BB FTHE AN .2 SMNEE HI AR

A - ARBCH BISNE B IR 5RO K CHEHE -
EERMETRETRE)  NEBELEE
BEREETINEEB ZRITHARERL
BSHMER

HERE
ME R R BRI 2 AL A%
BB ERARFRETHE - @Y

moal ®
incremental borrowing rate, and the aggregate effect is as Z2mT
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —_TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At 1 April RIEA—H 629 1,172
Lease payments made during the year FREFHENK (600) (636)
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 45 93
At 31 March W=A=+—8 74 629
Represented by: 2545 :
Amount classified under current liabilities REIBEE FHE 7 5 74 555
Amount classified under non-current IERBEBEETHEZEH
liabilities - 74
At 31 March N=B=+—8H 74 629

The directors considered the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate to be appropriate in view of the market environment and
economic conditions under which each remaining lease
operates. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities is 12.87% (2020: 12.87%).
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

_

24, EREZRA R EMEIRE

2021 2020
—E-—F T -THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current portion BIEAES 7

Advance from customers BEPER 4 343
Trade payables FEE SRR 65,820 26,907
Accruals EstER 9,970 8,869
Other payables E T ERIA 17,559 16,384
Salary and benefits payables B E € REF 9,928 8,683
103,281 61,186

Non-current portion FERNERER 7
Other payables Hh ETRRIR 1,328 802
104,609 61,088

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of

trade payables, based on the demand note date, is as follows:

BERSHR BNEZRFIZEZTBH

EAMEFNREATT

2021 2020

—E-—F T -TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Over 90 days Q0 HM E 65,820 26,907
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 25. ;T EBE
2021 2020
—E-—F T -THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
The Group’s interest-bearing borrowings ~ AEEZBEERETE
were repayable as follows: BENT :
Amount due within one year included in =~ ZIARBEEIE R —FR
current liabilities S HR 2 FRIE 300 300
Amount due after one year R—F&EIE 2K 408,492 364,872
408,792 365,172

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, the Group’s
interest-bearing borrowings are arranged at interest rates
ranging 4.35% to 20% (2020: 4.35% to 20%). The Group’s
interest- bearing borrowings were secured by the Group’s rights

of collection from its customers.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group
entered into a security arrangement and transferred the rights of
collection of the Group’s trade receivables to a financer under
which all the significant risks and rewards relating to these

receivables had been passed to the financer.
The above borrowings are carried at amortised cost and the

carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings approximate to

their fair value.
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26. BONDS

On 30 April 2008, the Company issued convertible bonds with
an aggregate value of HK$806,400,000 (the “2008 CB") with
maturity date of 30 April 2013 for partial settlement of the
consideration for the acquisition of SSC Mandarin Mining
Investment Limited and its subsidiaries. Upon the maturity of the
2008 CB on 30 April 20183, the 2008 CB became bonds and
payable on demand. The outstanding bonds is charged at 5%
per annum. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Company had made partial settlement to the outstanding bonds
of approximately HK$6,267,000 (2020: nil).

Movements of the bonds are set out below:

26. &%

RZZBZNEFWNA=1+E  ARABITHE
16.806,400,000 8 T2 ARk EH ([ —ZTF
NFABRES]) (RZE—=FMA=+
BEIE) - AN WECERNRERER
AR REMBAR 2HIRE - RZF
—ZFNA=Z+HR-ZET N\FABKRES
FEE —ETENFABRRELFKAES
WRBRERMNR - MARERECESFEEF
5% K8 BHE-_T-_—F=A=+—H
IHFE  ARRBEHENIBD REEEHFL
6,267,000 BT (ZE_FF : &) o

BEHzEHEIMT

2021 2020

—E-—F —ECEF

total total

Mt HBET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FHET

At 1 April RIMA—A 19,107 18,589
Interest charged B 497 518
Repayment B (6,267) —
At 31 March W=A=+—8H 13,337 19,107

The fair value of the bonds at 31 March 2021 amounted to
approximately HK$13,337,000 (2020: HK$19,107,000).
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PROMISSORY NOTES 27. AN EE
2021 2020
—B-—F —ECFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Promissory notes ORI - 12,500

The carrying amount of promissory notes represents the
outstanding balance of two trenches of zero coupon promissory
notes of approximately HK$7,500,000 each. No repayment has
been made by the Group since a partial settlement of
approximately HK$2,500,000 made during the year ended 31
March 2011. As disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, a legal dispute in relation to the promissory
notes arose and remain unresolved as at 31 March 2021. By the
Order of Deputy High Court Judge Raymond Leung SC on 26
February 2021, the Company was allowed to interplead for the
total sum of HK$12,500,000, and thereupon be excused form
any further proceedings in the HCA 397 Actions until the
determination of issues of interest as between the parties and
cost, which shall take place after trial as disclosed in note 39())

to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 10 April 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds
(“CBs”) with face value of HK$30,095,000 to independent third
parties. Holders of the CBs will have the right to convert the
CBs, on whole or in part (in multiples of HK$150,000), of the
principal amount of the CBs into the Conversion Shares at the
Conversion Price of HK$0.3 for the period commencing from the
date of the issue of the CBs up to the close of business on the
day falling 14 days prior to the 16 July 2022.

The CBs bear interest of 4% per annual and payable in arrears

quarterly on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31

December in each year.
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Upon the issuance, the value of the CBs has been split into the
liability element and an equity component of HK$15,073,000
and HK$15,022,000 respectively.

The movement of the liability and equity components of the

convertible bonds for the year is set out below:

28. AR ESH (&)

RETE TBRBRESZEEEYE AR
B D MEm I D - 9 5lA&15,073,000%
7T % 15,022,000 % 7T ©

TR ES Y BERERBIRAER 2
SBRIIOT :

Liability Equity
component component Total
aEHs ) et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TETT TR THT
At 1 April 2020 R_ZZZZTFMA—A 21,396 12,543 33,939
Effective interest expenses ERFERAX 4,528 - 4,525
Payment of interest BT (1,207) - (1,204)
At 31 March 2021 W_E-_—F=A=+—H 24,717 12,543 37,260

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an
effective interest rate of 21.58% to the liability component of the
CBs.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, none of the

CBs were redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled.

In August 2018, a claim made against the Company in relation
to the CBs had been filed to High Court remain unresolved, as
at 31 March 2021, details of which are set out in note 39(iv) to

the consolidated financial statements.

As a result of a certain litigation made against the Company,
subject to the court ruling, the CBs could become payable on
demand and was classified as current liabilities as at 31 March
2021 and 2020.
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. |7
2021 2020
—E--F —TEF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
R EE &8 e 4= ok
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THT
Authorised (HK$0.06 each): ETE (BREE0.06ET) :
At 1 April RMA—H 2,666,666,666 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 2,666,666,666 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000

Issued and fully paid (HK$0.06 each): B 31T R4 (FREE

0.06%7T) :
At 1 April REA—A 1,496,782,160 89,807  1,496,782,160 89,807
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 1,496,782,160 89,807  1,496,782,160 89,807
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30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 30. EERA

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a
defined contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% (2020: 5%) of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. Both the
Group’s and the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap
of HK$1,500 (2020: HK$1,500) per month and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently-
administered fund. The Group’s contributions vest fully with the

employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations in the PRC, the employees in the
PRC are required to join the pension fund (& &Rk E %) which
is a defined contribution scheme operated by the local
government for the benefit of retired employees. The Group is
required to make monthly contributions to the scheme at a
specified rate of the employee payroll to fund the retirement

benefits of the employees.
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other obligations to

make payments in respect of retirement benefits of the

employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31. RESERVES 31. #fE
(@ Group (@) &M@
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements AREBRBEBUNRAFERGBRE
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the FEZEFIFIINE66 67 B 24
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 66 SREFFEIRANZY -
and 67.
(b) The Company (b) EAH
Convertible
Share bonds Share option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
BRGNS
R EE RE BRERE RiER At

HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
THRT THET TEL THRR T

As at 1 April 2019 RZZ-AFMA—A 1,842,983 12,543 26,708 (1,911,927) (29,698)
Lapse of share options BIRERN - - (26,703) 26,703 -
Loss for the year FEEBR - - - (24,844) (24,844)

As at 31 March 2020 and RZE-ZF=A=+—H

1 April 2020 k=E-TFWA—A 1,842,983 12,543 - (1,910,068) (54,542)
Loss for the year FEER - - - (21,375) (21,375)
As at 31 March 2021 RZZE-—F=FA=1+—H 1,842,983 12,543 - (1,931,443 (75,917)
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31. RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share Premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available
for distribution to shareholders subject to the
provisions of the articles of association of the
Company and no distribution may be paid to
shareholders out of the share premium unless,
immediately following the date on which distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company shall
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 3(p) to the

consolidated financial statements.

Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represents the value of
the unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds in note 3(l)(ii)) to the consolidated

financial statements.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees and other participants
other than employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 3(s) to

the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

32. LEASE COMMITMENTS 32. HEAE
The short-term lease for the offices which are regularly entered HE - F#=ZA=+—HILFE " $
into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021. As at EBRTFPMMP AT EHALY - BN =
31 March 2021, the outstanding lease commitments is as —_—H=A=+—"8 XEEHE 7?(#1&1
following: T
2021
—B-—F
HK$’000
THERT
Within one year —FR 350
In the second to fifth year, inclusive F_EZELF (BREEEMTE) 250
600
33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. B EE
The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include REBZTEZSRMEERABRERERK
promissory notes receivable, bank balances and cash, bonds, HER  RUTEBEERS - % EREL
promissory notes payable, interest-bearing borrowings, other 28 FHEMEE - HiEWERE BNES
receivables, trade and other payables as well as, long term EREREMESEEARRBER - %%
loans. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the CRTAEZFBENESABMTRE - %
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial SemIT A HERRORERZSRER 2
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are Eﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬂ’x CERBREERBRERUERE
set out below. The management manages and monitors these T AREIRE RS R B U T TS i 2 FE 5 o
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.
(@) Foreign exchange risk (a) HMERME
The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are REBrEBEERRHIETERUE
principally denominated in HK$ and RMB. Foreign TTRAREBSEMN - BROBEERSD
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions MEwRZEERAGEUEBRERE
and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a BB EW ANz Kt B ETTE
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant SIBHNE BB o A & B HEVR ST < B
group entity. The Group adopted a conservative treasury B - REH BT ERBERAETT
policy with most of the bank deposits being kept in HK$ or AREER  XABREEWNBEAR
RMB, or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries FriEt @ &% 275 PA%%W@%
to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk. e @ ez o
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group has certain investments and operations in the
PRC, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net
assets of the Group’s operations in the PRC is managed
primarily through operating liabilities denominated in RMB.

To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s foreign
currency exchange risks. However, the management
continues to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
regularly and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

A reasonably possible increase/decrease of 5% in
exchange rates between RMB and HK$ respectively, with
all other variables held constant, will lead to an decrease/
increase of approximately HK$248,000 of the Group’s loss
before tax (2020: HK$690,000) mainly arising from that the
Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are

principally denominated in HK$ or Renminbi (“RMB”).

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily
from its borrowings and bank deposits. Borrowings at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The management monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

At 31 March 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points (2020: 100 basis points) in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s loss before tax by
approximately HK$2,190,000 (2020: HK$1,631,000).
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33. KERER &)

(a)

(b)

SMNERBR (4F)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the reporting date and had been applied to the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date. A 100 basis points (2020: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease in interest rates represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for 2020.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and promissory
notes) and from its financing activities, including deposits
with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange
transactions and other financial instruments. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, for which the Group

considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which

would expose the Group to credit risk.

The carrying amount of trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, promissory notes and bank balances
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in

relation to the Group’s financial assets.
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(b)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has policy in
place to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk
grading to categories exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The Group uses publicly available financial
Information and own historical repayment records to rate
its major debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
rating of its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread

amongst approved counterparties.

For trade and other receivables, the directors make
periodic collectively assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of trade and other
receivables including deposits. No impairment loss on trade
and other receivables (2020: HK$2,438,000) was
recognised under 12m ECL model during the year ended
31 March 2021.

The Group measures loss allowances for promissory notes
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different debtors, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further

distinguished between the Group’s different debtors.
An impairment loss of HK$2,000,000 on the promissory

notes (2020: HK$2,000,000) was recognised under ECL
model during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

33. B ERERE &)
d) E¢HERBR

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management
reviews and monitors the Group’s working capital

requirements regularly.

The following table sets out the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at
the reporting date, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
the prevailing rates at the reporting date) and the earliest

date the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for convertible bonds which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at
the holder’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which the entity can
be required to pay, that is if the holder was to invoke their
unconditional rights to call the outstanding balance of

convertible bonds with immediate effect.

157

REBRAEEzEsRABRR  KN&E
BERMMERARKFZRERAES
HERB  UBNAKEZEBHRFE
FERERERERB 2 TE - EEE
TR RERAKREZEEESH

TRANAKEITESRABNE
SRMZRBANHR - DREEH
ARRESRE (BREABEOMEL
(EFBHFER)RIEHREARBITLZ
MERFTEZMBFIR) - ARFIBER R
AEBNF 2P AHE -

AEEME  HRHEREREE KK
(B AAZRRIBITE) 2Bk
B FRASWETNREZERARK
ERMNRZZPHR (B AESIE
RN BB B 5T AR E SR 2 R
BIRAERE) FHZRERE -



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2020/2021

_

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 33. KRB EE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) d) BE&RBERREE)
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities AEBESRABBENASYRITERS
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is as MEELH BB HTIT
follows:
2021 2020
“g--F Sk 2
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted ~ one year or After Carrying  undiscounted one year or After
amount cashflow  ondemand one year amount cash flow on demand one year
CLESES —ERE AOARTE —Fre

EE HeRBER REX BR-F KEE ReRELE BEX BE-F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TEn Thx TR TR TR TATL TAL TAL

Trade and other payables fEFZ 585k

EthERER 104,609 104,609 103,281 1,328 61,988 61,988 61,186 802

Interest-bearing iTERE
borrowings 408,792 416,202 300 415,902 365,172 374457 300 374,157
Promissory notes EAEE - - - - 12,500 12,500 12,500 -
Bonds E# 13,337 13,337 13,337 - 19,107 19,107 19,107 -
Convertible bonds THRES 24,117 24,17 24,17 = 21,396 21,396 21,39 -
Lease liabilties HERE 74 19 119 = 629 851 775 76

551,529 558,984 141,754 417,230 480,792 490,299 115,264 375,035
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 33. iR ERE &)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) BELRBERRE)

The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of
convertible bonds with a repayment on demand clause
based on agreed scheduled repayments. The amounts
include interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a result, these amounts are greater than the
amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the

maturity analysis above.

TR FARERKEEGR A
BB IRIBRE W E < T BERLHHE
HEZIEI A D47 - EFHRIRBEEM
BRMEHEZMERE - Btk - &%
FLRPAN EXEHB D [1RE
K RRARAREZ S -

At 31 March 2021 At 31 March 2020
W-2--%=h=1-H RZZ-2F=F=+-A
Between1to  Between2to Between1to  Between2to
Within 1 year 2 years 5 years Total  Within 1 year 2 years 5years Total
—£R -ECf Z2EE L —FR —B-F “ERE @&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TER TER TET TAT THT TAT
Coverblebonds -~ AT AR 1,204 30,447 - 31,651 1,204 1,204 30447 20,855

As disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, as a result of certain litigations made against
the Company, subject to the court ruling, the outstanding
balance of the convertible bonds could became repayable
on demand as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e)

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’ s capital management
is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends,
issue new shares, sell assets as well as issue new debts or

redeem existing debts.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of cost and risk associated with

the capital and changes in economic conditions.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange, it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the Shares, The Group has maintained a sufficient public
float to comply with GEM Listing Rules from the date of the
Listing. As of 31 March 2021, approximately 63.50% of the

Shares were in public hands.

Fair value
The Carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement

of financial position approximately their respective fair value.
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33. MKEBERE &)

(e)
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS M. BEALRS

In addition to the directors listed in note 11 to the consolidated

financial statements, the Group also identifies below related

parties:

Name Relationship

Ma Qianzhou Substantial shareholder of Taizhou Mining
Director of Taizhou Mining

Zhao Yuebing Director of Taizhou Mining

Zhou Yong Shareholder of Grand T G Gold

General manager of Taizhou Mining

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

carried out with related parties:

(@ Key management compensation
Key management includes directors (executive and non-
executive), members of the Executive Committee, the
Company Secretary. The compensation paid or payable to

key management for employee services is shown below:

BRARE M BIMARMIT N AIZERI - K
SETRER TIIREAL

=S S

HEM AMEER T BB
ANBEXES

K ANBEXES

S REEZHBER

RKMNTERAEEIE

BREaRaUBRAEMBIDABEEN - K
SEEBEATETATRS

(@) FEEEBAEME
TEEEABBRATESERIERT
EE UTZBERERRAAWE -
SEERBMENHENEZEEA
BZBeE5ImT

2021 2020
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHT

Salaries and other short-term Fre hHAMEEERA
employee benefits 5,376 6,074
Other long-term benefits EmRHEEF 77 65
Total BET 5,453 6,139
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Loans from related parties

4. BEALRF ®)
b) BEALEHR

2021 2020

—E-—fF ZEEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

At 1 April REA—H 278,229 185,224
Currency realignment PE 5 3 22,592 7,958
Additions during the year F RN 50,755 85,047
Repayment during the year FNER (9,344) -
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 342,232 278,229

The above loans for the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020 from Ms. Zhao Yuebing, Mr. Ma Qianzhou, Mr. Zhou
Yong and Mr. Li Dahong were included in interest-bearing

borrowings.

The loans from related parties have the following terms and

B E T —FR-IE_TF=
RA=+—HItFERa#EH KL
BEMEE  ABEERTRREE
ZEHETAGTEEE -

RE AL BRI R AR T

conditions:

Atend At beginning

of year of year Interest rate
Name ®E FXR F14 FlZ=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FAT
2021 —T-—fF
Zhao Yuebing 5 7k 145,240 95,256 4.35%
Ma Qianzhou HaziM 121,065 105,469 4.35%
Zhou Yong I5ES] 74,827 77,504 4.35%
Li Dahong FRR 1,100 - 5%
2020 —E-TF
Zhao Yuebing K 95,256 88,063 4.35%
Ma Qianzhou HaziM 105,469 97,161 4.35%
Zhou Yong 5 77,504 - 4.35%
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) M. BEALRE #)

(c) Amounts due to related parties (c) FEFRBIEALTFIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT T
Ma Qianzhou BEM 902 1,225
The above amounts are interest free, unsecured and FRFIBAEEE BERITNEXE
repayable on demand. They are included in trade and other EE - HRNENEZERA R ER
payables. BRIBARR -
35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND B REFHEITNERMEERERE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BERE
2021 2020
—E-—F T -FTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial Assets — amortised cost SREE — REBHAK
Promissory notes AR = 2,000
Trade receivables B SRR 11,345 -
Deposits and other receivable e MEMEUIRIE 6,167 6,156
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEIER 5,916 2,141
25,428 10,297

Financial Liabilities — amortised cost £ RIEE — REBHR A

Trade and other payables FERTE 5 BR R RH A T ARIR 104,609 61,988
Promissory notes LR - 12,500
Bonds EE2 13,337 19,107
Convertible bonds AR ES 24,717 21,396
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 408,792 365,172

551,455 480,163
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

36. XA A EMRRE

THE COMPANY
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
MaE FExT THEIT
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries BB~ RS 17 121,115 120,753
Right-of-use assets CREEE 65 584
121,180 121,337
Current Assets REEE
Promissory notes ZEGTIESi - 2,000
Deposits, prepayments and other &  BNEIER
receivables Hith pe i AR 18 551 493
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMBRESEMEER 8 31
559 2,524
Current Liabilities V=R
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E AR RIE 18,729 17,628
Promissory notes R = 12,500
Bonds BE% 13,337 19,107
Convertible bonds AR ES 24,717 21,396
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 300 300
Lease liabilities HEBE 74 555
57,157 71,486
Net current liabilities REEEZEE (56,598) (68,962)
Total assets less current liabilites ZEEZABERABERE 64,582 52,375
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. KD BB RIEK &)

THE COMPANY (Continued)
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MaE FET FHET
Non-current Liabilities ERBERS
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEEE 887 1,435
Lease liabilities HEBE - 74
Interest bearing borrowings ATEEE 49,805 15,601
50,692 17,110
Net assets BEE 13,890 35,265
Capital and Reserves BEARR#HE
Share capital A&z 89,807 89,807
Reserves =] 31(b) (75,917) (54,542)
Total equity REREE 13,890 35,265
On behalf of the board of directors on 29 June 2021: RZEZ—FNAZTHLHERRESS :
Li Dahong Ma Xiaona
ERE =538
Director Director
EE -
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37. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 37.

The balance comprise temporary difference attributable to:

EEBEER
IR TR 2 ER R

2021 2020

—E-—F —EEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHIT

Convertible Bonds AI AR (EF 887 1,435
Movement: SE

At 1 April W A—H 1,435 1,888

Credited to profit or loss (note 10) FrABE (K 10) (549) (453)

At 31 March W=A=+—H 887 1,435

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$6,762,000 (2020: HK$10,897,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of these losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised tax

losses will expire in 2025.
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XY EELE:
38. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 38. REREMEBRME
OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (@ BMEITBRELEEMNHIE
activities
The table set forth below is the detail changes in the TR AEBRETDNELEE
Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including ZE2E M BRERENIFRSEE -
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from pﬂé,ﬁ@]ﬁﬁ?iZEﬁB$’i Bira
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or RenERxBREeRENRRESR
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s ENHAMERIMERENEZE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from & o
financing activities.
1 April Interest  Exchange 31 March
2020 Cash flows charges realignment 2021
. i .

mA—H HERE FEEA EX#EE ZA=t-H
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FTET TER TET FER

Bonds (note 26) &% (Kiitze) 19,107 (6,267) 497 - 13,337
Interest-bearing borrowings T B 1EE (AfF25)

(note 25) 365,172 3,353 8,527 31,740 408,792
Convertible bonds (note 28)  FIHARRE % (171 28) 21,396 (1,207) 4,528 = 24,7117
Lease liabilities (note 23) HEBEMz23) 629 (600) 45 - 74
Promissory notes (note 27) & X2 (fifi#27) 12,500 (12,500) - - -

418,804 (17,221) 13,597 31,740 446,920

1 April Cash Interest Exchange 31 March
2019 flows charges  realignment 2020
—NF —ECEE

mA—-R ReRE FEEM EXEE ZA=t-H
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT THAT THET THAT THET

Bonds (note 26) &% (M ze) 18,589 - 518 - 19,107
Interest-bearing borrowings T B 1EE (AfF25)

(note 25) 360,737 13,030 9,285 (17,880) 365,172
Convertible bonds (note 28) ARk &% (K171 28) 18,655 (1,204) 3,945 - 21,396
Lease liabilities (note 23) HEBE (H23) 1,172 (636) 93 - 629
Promissory notes (note 27) &R 24 (fif:#27) 12,500 - - - 12,500

411,653 11,190 13,841 (17,880) 418,804
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38. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

38. mEBRERERMT &)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HERSRLAE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases AR RERCHESBEERENT
comprises the following: FIE
2021 2020
—E-—% —E-—Tf
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Within operating cash flows KERSMEN 45 93
Within financing cash flows BERSREN 555 543
600 636
These amounts relate to the following: ZECHEHETYIEEARMA -
2021 2020
—B-—fF —EETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Lease rental paid BENHERS 600 636
39. LITIGATION 39. A AR
As at 31 March 2021, the Company is involved in the following RZE-_—F=ZA=+—8" ' XRAREY
litigation proceedings: AT ERAREF

(i

HCA 397 of 2011 (the “HCA 397 Action”)

The HCA 397 Action was issued by Charm Master
Enterprises Limited (“Charm Master”) against the Company
for payments allegedly due to the former under (1) a
Promissory Note D issued by the Company dated 29
January 2010 for a sum of HK$7,500,000 due and payable
on 30 April 2010; and (2) a Promissory Note E issued by
the Company dated 1 June 2010 for a sum of
HK$5,000,000 due and payable on 20 June 2010. The
Company’s opposed the claim on the basis that the
condition precedents for payment of such sums of money
had not been satisfied, such that it is not liable to pay
Charm Master.

168

HCA % 397/2011 5% ([ HCA 58 397 i 5
ED)

HCAZ 397 %% & 7 F Charm Master
Enterprises Limited ([ Charm Master )
BLAR & T 51 %% I8 58 M8 JE {J T Charm
Master B9 FEH # AR QR B EE R : (1) AR
RAMRZE-ZTF-HAZTNAET
HEREED  RZE—TFMUA=F
B % 87 & 1~ 7,500,000 7T : & (2) A
RAMNZE—ZTF A —BETHR
HEED RZZT—ZTFA=1H
EI|HFE 1< 5,000,000,8 7T © AN B =¥
ZRE - BAARINIENNRLR
EHWREK BRARAAHER
Charm Master <t 5% ©
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39. LITIGATION (Continued)

U

HCA 397 of 2011 (the “HCA 397 Action”) (Continued)

J. Thomson Asset Investment Ltd (“J. Thomson”) was
subsequently joined as a 2nd Defendant to the HCA 397
Action. J Thomson claimed that it is in fact entitled to the
sums of money due and payable under Promissory Notes
D and E to the extent of HK$12,000,000 by virtue of an
alleged arrangement it entered into with Charm Master on
or around 29 April 2008. Accordingly, it counterclaimed the
sum of HK$12,000,000 against both Charm Master and
the Company.

J. Thomson subsequently applied for summary judgment
against the Company, or alternatively, an interim payment
in the sum of HK$12,000,000 into Court. By the Order of
Deputy High Court Judge Raymond Leung SC on 12
November 2020, the Company was ordered to make
payment of HK$12,000,000 into Court as condition to
defend the counterclaim of J. Thomson. The said payment
was made on 14 January 2021.

By the Order of Deputy High Court Judge Raymond Leung
SC on 26 February 2021, the Company was allowed to
interplead for the total sum of money payable under
Promissory Notes D and E, and thereupon be excused
from any future proceedings in the HCA 397 Action until
the determination of issues of interest and cost as between
the parties, which shall take place after trial. The Company
duly paid the remaining HK$500,000 into Court on 22
March 2021. The HCA 397 Action has since proceeded as
between Charm Master and J. Thomson without the

participation of the Company.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
abovesaid issue was already reflected in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2021,
pursuant to note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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HCA 28 397/2011 5% (THCA %8 397 5 5F
B (&)
J. Thomson Asset Investment Ltd ([J.
Thomson |) F& 1& Al A Y€ /& HCA 2 397
FRAFAARE 3 E o J. Thomson & 18
/B #EH B Charm Master R — T T N\
A =+ N Bk AERREERHE -
HEE FAREGEAHLEBDREET
I| B FE 1~ 51 7812,000,000/8 7T © AL, -
H 51 12,000,0007% 7T ¥f Charm Master
RANFRERRE -

J. Thomson [ 14 M)A BT R EB ST H A A
A /9 8 5 R 3 B 15 50 12,000,000
BT KEBESEEREREEREX
RZZEZEF+—A+ZBHR@S
R @ # 6 % [A)E Be £ H 12,000,000
I fEATLEJ. Thomson &
RENGRGE - PRERTIR T =—
F—ATHAER -

BRESEEREREZTEREXN_E
A+ RBENGmT AR
BT A BB D R ETE T A AIKIE
MEREESF - WEHLERRHCARE
397 AR AAME R HEERF - HEE
BEhAZENEERERFRLERR
EREERIL - ARBIR T —F
ZAZ T ZRAVER Z R FIERE
500,000 7T © HCAZ 397 SR sF A B 1t
7 Charm Master £2J. Thomson 2 f& i
11 KRR TERHE -

AR R EFRARIRER S B 15 RE M
o7 FMBECRAKRER-F
=A==t BENREMBERE
feBgR o
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39. LITIGATION (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

HCMP 1398 of 2018 (the “HCMP 1398 Action”) and
HCCW 194 of 2020 (the “HCCW Action”)

The HCMP 1398 Action was commenced by Mayson
Associates Ltd (“Mayson”) against the Company to seek,
inter alia, that Mayson is the legal owner of Convertible
Bond No. 54 (“Bond No. 54”) issued by the Company.

The amount due under Bond No. 54 has been fully
satisfied. Pursuant to the Order of Madam Justice Linda
Chan of 31 July 2020, Mayson has withdrawn HCMP 1398
with no order as to costs.

The HCCW Action was commenced by Lee Sing Leung
Robin against the Company to seek, inter alia, an order for
the winding up of the Company on, inter alia, that the
Company has failed to pay the amount due and Convertible
Bond No. 54, ie. the same bond which is the subject made
of HCMP 1398 Action and equitable grounds.

Pursuant to the Order of Master Lai on 28 August 2020,
the HCCW Action has been withdrawn with no order as to
costs between Lee Sing Leung Robin and the Company by
consent.

HCA 1885 of 2018 (the “HCA 1885 Action”)

The HCA 1885 Action was commenced by Leung Heung
Ying (“Leung”) against the Company to seek payment
under a series of convertible bonds dated 17 July 2017
which is due for payment on 16 July 2022 totalling
HK$30,095,357.00 and the interest accrued thereon. The
Company has opposed Leung’s claim on the basis that the
payment was not yet due. Leung has applied for summary
judgment against the Company. The application has been
adjourned and no hearing has yet been fixed.

As of the approval date on these consolidated financial
statements, the said sum of HK$30,095,357 had been
reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
as at 31 March 2021. The directors are of the opinion that
no further provision is required in this respect.
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EiNE )

(ii)

(iii)

HCMP % 1398/2018 55 (THCMP %
1398 5% 5% 52 |) & HCCW £ 194/2020
%% (THCCW iR )

HCMPZ1398%% &F &' F Mayson
Associates Ltd ([Mayson |) #1 % &A1 7]
2R USSR (EAB1E)Mayson &7
NEVEITH AT RE S E 545 ([EFH
S45R D EEEHB A ©

B 545518 N 2 B B FUA D BB EE
B RERFSEZENZZE_EF
A=+—HK& < Maysont i
HCMP 25139857 * WHEMEB M S °

HCCWEF AR T R R St ¥ A2 A 1R
B USKEREREER(EFRETE)
QAR B AT B BRI RRIE R AJ AR 1
# 25 54 55 (BN B HCMP 28 1398 5 &
MEBHE—ESH)URAEEHBA

RABBHNGS

REBELRERER T _ZFF/\A
“+N\BE®EGS  HCCWEHHFFAE T A
B KERUERFTERERADF
ZEMMEBZLBS

HCA % 1885/2018 5% (HCA 551885
EREFRAL)

HCA S 18855 sF A R = 5 ([ 2 ) &t
HARQFRE UskBEHA-ZT
—tF LA+ EAN— R ARRE
T8 T 4251 30,095,357.00 7% ST FI T 58
(MR =—ZE-_=—FtA+/~HEIHE
) REEFFE - RARIRERNER
B EHANREAEE REHHE
HERARAWEZHR - ZHBEHE
WEHR - BERFTL A A R IERE o

HEZEREMBHRENIERR -
430,095,357 A TR RIEE R AR &
BR—_ZE-——F=-H=1+—HHNEKE
B mEARRE - EFR/BAER U
VEHE— PR o



39.

40.

41.

REESERERAH

T /B —FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

LITIGATION (Continued)
(iv) HCMP 1869 of 2020 (the “HCMP 1869 Action”)

The HCMP 1869 Action was commenced by the Company
against the Company’s previous legal representatives, D.S.
Cheung & Co. by way of Originating Summons on 27
October 2020. The Company sought an order that the nine
invoices delivered to the Company in the HCA 397 Action,
HCMP 1398/2018 and HCA 1885/2018 actions (“the
Invoices”), be taxed pursuant to Section 67 of the Legal
Practitioners Ordinance. Pursuant to the Order of Master
Lai of 1 June 2021, the Invoices have been referred to
taxation and the Company has been ordered to pay
HK$570,000 as security for the taxation by 22 June 2021.
The Company discussed with the legal team on their views
that the taxation hearing will be fixed to be heard sometime
in late 2021. The Company has paid the abovesaid amount
of HK$570,000 into court on 21 June 2021.

Having consulted the Company’s legal advisers, the directors
are of the view that further provision is not required for the above

legal proceedings.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant

capital commitments (2020: Nil).

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the

board of directors and authorised for issue on 29 June 2021.
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(ivy HCMP % 1869/2020%; (THCMP %
1869555772 1))
HCMP £ 1869 R F A AR R RN =
—EF+AtERBEBRFEZL
HARRNEHENEAREKD.S. Cheung &
Co. #ZH#E ° 7R A R =K HCA £ 397 5 iff
#A + HCMP 55 1398/20185% K HCA S
1885/2018 5% #F 7A HR A AN A &) A2 1 Y
NPBE(ZEEEDRBEERE
EIEPIE 67 T EM M= o BRI Lailk
RER-T-_—FAA—BHBS
ZEBREERTREFNE  MARH
BEEmeRN T —FA=Z+=H
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R ZE - —F RN ERMETR
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=+t—-HLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—+F ZF)\F ZT-NF _T_FTF ZF=—F
HK$'000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T FETT T FHETT THET

RESULTS Ef
Revenue g 2% 131,658 215,446 163,829 69,643 99,807
(Loss)/profit before tax BRLAT(E8) % 9,622 46,117 15,610 (39,229)  (17,116)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTis®i (Fs) % (8,032) (11,948 (7,849) 453 549
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE(ER),/EF 1,590 34,169 7,761 (38,776)  (16,567)
Attributable to: VAR A (L
Equity holders of the Company ~ ARQRI#EImHHF A 9,779) 15,290 33 (35,239)  (17,974)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR RS 11,369 18,879 7,728 (3,537) (1,407)
1,590 34,169 7,761 (38,776)  (16,567)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
R=B=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—2—+tF - \F Z2-NF ZZT-TF ZF=Z—F
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHET FHET FH&TT FHET
Total assets BEE 710,114 812,450 807,938 780,103 867,063
Total liabilities BARE (634,760)  (495,887) (507,597) (542,483) (617,918)

e
et

L
T
/|

Total equity 75,354 316,563 300,341 237,620 249,145
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